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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Altyn Bank JSC (SB of China Citic Bank Corporation
Ltd)

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Altyn Bank JSC (SB of China Citic Bank Corporation Ltd (the “Bank”) as at 31 December 2024, and

the financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards.

What we have audited

The Bank financial statements comprise:

e the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024;

e the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended:;
e the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

e the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in the Republic of Kazakhstan. We have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and the ethical requirements of the Republic of
Kazakhstan that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements.
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Our audit approach ) N
Overview
Materiality Overall materiality: Kazakhstani Tenge 2,161,241 thousand, which
represents 5% of profit before income tax for the year ended 31
December 2024
Key audit matters Assessment of expected credit losses allowance for loans to
customers made by management in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial Instruments (IFRS 9).

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made
subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved
making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits,
we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls including, among other

matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material
misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an
opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Bank, the
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Bank operates.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality,
including the overall Bank materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table
below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements,
if any, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall Bank materiality Kazakhstani Tenge 2,161,241 thousand

How we determined it 5% of profit before income tax for the year ended 31 December
2024

Rationale for the materiality Profit before tax is the benchmark against which the

benchmark applied performance of the Bank is most commonly measured by users

as it demonstrates the Bank’s financial performance in the
current economic environment. We choose 5%, which, in our
experience, is within the range of acceptable quantitative

materiality thresholds commonly used for this benchmark.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

1 Key audit matter

- How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Assessment of expected credit losses (ECL)

In assessing ECL provision we have performed,
provision for loans to customers made by

among others, the following audit procedures:

prmm—

management in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial
Instruments (IFRS 9).

We focused on this area due to the size of loans
to customers balance and because IFRS 9 is a
complex financial reporting standard, which
requires significant judgment to determine the
ECL provision.

The Bank performed ECL assessment:
e on an individual basis;

¢ on a portfolio basis: internal ratings were
estimated on an individual basis but the
same credit risk parameters (e.g.
probability of default, loss given default)
were applied during the process of ECL
calculations for the same credit risk
ratings of the loan portfolio.

Key areas of judgment included:

e Allocation of loans to stages in
accordance with IFRS 9;

e  Accounting interpretations and modelling
assumptions used to estimate key risk
parameters — probability of default, loss
given default and exposure at default;

o Completeness and accuracy of data used
to calculate the ECL;

e Accuracy and adequacy of the financial
statement disclosures.

o Refer to the Notes 3, 7, and 29 of the
accompanying financial statements that
provide information on material
accounting policies, critical accounting
estimates and judgements and risk
assessment related to ECL provision and
disclosures on loans to customers.

We assessed the methodologies and models
for ECL provision assessment developed by
the Bank in order to evaluate their compliance
with IFRS 9 requirements. We focused our
procedures on: default definition, factors for
determining a “significant increase in credit
risk”, allocation of the loans to stages, and
estimation of key risk parameters.

On a sample basis we performed an individual
assessment of the ECL provision levels to
determine if they were appropriate considering
the risk profile, credit risk and the
macroeconomic environment. We considered
trends in the economy and industries to which
the Bank's borrowers are exposed.

We assessed the design and tested operating
effectiveness of key controls across the
processes relevant to the ECL. This included
the allocation of loans into stages, calculation
of key risk parameters (probability of default,
loss given default, exposure at default), data
accuracy and completeness.

On a sample basis we tested segmentation and
allocation to stages;

To verify data accuracy and quality, on a
sample basis, we tested the data used in the
ECL calculation by reconciling to source data,
i.e. loan portfolios, loan agreements, collateral
agreements and etc.;

On overall basis we checked the Bank's
assessment of effect of forward looking
information on the ECL level, in particular, we
assessed whether forecasted macroeconomic
variables were appropriate (such as inflation
level, base rate, oil price, and exchange rates),
traced input data to the external sources and
checked appropriateness of the model used,;
We assessed the adequacy and
appropriateness of disclosures for compliance
with the accounting standards IFRS.
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Responsibilities of management and those chaFged with governance for the financial ..
statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reportmg process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to
continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Aigul Akhmetova.
On behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopess-t:

£ OTPAAE
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Dhsadi

Approved by; Signed by:

Azamat Konratbayev Aigul Akhmetova

Managing Director Partner

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Auditor in charge

(General State License of the Ministry of (Qualified Auditor’s Certificate
Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan #00000083 dated 27 August 2012)

#0000005 dated 21 October 1999)

28 February 2025
Almaty, Kazakhstan



JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)

Statement of Management’s Responsibilities for the Preparation and Approval of the Financial Statements
for the year Ended 31 December 2024

The management of JSC Altyn Bank (SB China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited) (“the Bank”) is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements that present fairly the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2024, the

results of its operations, cash flows and changes in equity for the year ended that date, in accordance with
IFRS accounting standards (‘IFRS").

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for:

e  Properly selecting and applying accounting policies;

»  Presenting information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

e Providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS accounting standards are

insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the
Bank’s financial position and financial performance; and

e Making an assessment of the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern.

Management is also responsible for:

e Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and reliable system internal controls of the Bank;

e Maintaining adequate records that are sufficient to show and explain the Bank 's transactions and disclose with

accuracy at any time the financial position of the Bank, and which enable them to ensure that the financial
statements of the Bank comply with IFRS accounting standards;

¢ Accounting in accordance with the laws of the Republic of Kazakhstan;
e  Taking such steps as are reasonably practicable to protect the Bank’s assets; and

e Preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 were approved by the members of the Management
Committee of the Bank on 28 February 2025.

On behalf of the Management Board of the Bank:
cITIC

P Lainy bang o
S oty

Baisynov M.B.
Actifig Chairman o

28 February 2025
Almaty, Kazakhstan
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Karzhaube Z.
Chief Acc nt
28 February-2025

Almaty, Kazakhstan
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Statement of Financial Position - as at 31 December 2024

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Notes 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 5 78,495,327 121,308,225
Mandatory cash balances with NBRK 18,479,556 15,695,987
Due from other financial institutions 9 32,122,645 23,276,265
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6 28,411 11,081
Loans and advances to customers i 525,317,980 382,934,004
Documentary settlements 2,646,093 3,156,859
Investments in debt securities:
Debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive

income 8 242,233,341 181,798,375
Debt securities at amortised cost 8 88,096,446 147,251,408
Current income tax assets 24 453,509 1,046,970
Deferred income tax assets 24 836,132 683,066
Property, plant and equipment 10 7,602,778 7,336,525
Intangible assets 11 1,604,829 1,595,143
Other assets 12 4,554,899 2,603,018
TOTAL ASSETS 1,002,471,946 888,696,926
LIABILITIES:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 81,578 8,280
Due to other financial institutions 13 6,364,242 5,699,611
Current accounts and deposits from customers 15, 30 801,409,862 676,373,946
Repurchase agreements 14 32,808,452 66,216,338
Provision for credit related commitments 25 1,210,044 1,129,154
Other liabilities 16 22,986,531 21,294,681
TOTAL LIABILITIES 864,860,709 770,722,010
EQUITY:
Share capital 17 7,050,000 7,050,000
Additional paid-in capital 17 220,973 220,973
Revaluation reserve for financial assets at fair value

through other comprehensive income (4,099,021) (1,627,162)
Retained earnings and other reserves 134,439,285 112,331,105
TOTAL EQUITY 137,611,237 117,974,916
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,002,471,946 888,696,926

On behalf of the Management Board of the Bank:

= a CITIC 5
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Karzhaufne L

Chief A tant

28 February 2025

Almaty, Kazakhstan

The notes set out on pages from 5 to 80 form an integral part of these financial statements.



JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income - for the Year Ended 31 December 2024

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Notes 31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Interest income calculated using the effective interest rate

method 18, 30 107,264,007 93,949,727
Interest and similar expenses 18, 30 (50,995,857) (44,022,862)
Net margin on interest and similar income 56,268,150 49,926,865
Credit loss allowance 7 (6,975,646) (4,938,809)
Net interest income 49,292,504 44,988,056
Fee and commission income 20, 30 4,980,948 5,632,351
Fee and commission expense 20, 30 (4,232,509) (4,977,380)
Net commission income 748,439 654,971
Net losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss 19, 30 (496,306) (736,765)
Net gains from financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income 912,121 281,883
Gains less losses from trading in foreign currencies 21,30 7,651,965 8,772,927
Other income 340,569 122,973
Other non-interest income 8,408,349 8,441,018
Operating expenses 22, 30 (17,396,066) (15,733,374)
Reversal/(charge) of other reserves 2,171,584 (2,422,713)
Non-interest expenses (15,224,482) (18,156,087)
Profit before income tax 43,224,810 35,927,958
Income tax expense 24 (4,116,612) (1,924,248)
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 39,108,198 34,003,710
Basic and diluted earnings per share (tenge) 23 554,726 482,322
Net profit for the year 39,108,198 34,003,710
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or

loss:

Net (losses)/gains on fair value adjustments on financial

assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (1,559,738) 3,191,411
Gains from revaluation of fixed assets - 62,802
Losses less gains reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal

or impairment of financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income (912,121) (281,883)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME (2,471,859) 2,972,330
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 36,636,339 36,976,040

On behalf of the Management Board of the Bank:
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e n@es%ﬂ}%ﬁ pages from 5 to 80 form an integral part of these financial statements.



JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Statement of Changes in Equity - for the Year Ended 31 December 2024

Revaluation
of financial
assets at fair
value through  Reserve for

Additional other  revaluation
Share paid-in  comprehen- of fixed Retained Total

g In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge capital capital sive income assets earnings equity

31 December 2022 7,050,000 220,973 (4,599,492) 33,256 92,231,302 94,936,039
@ Dividends Payment - - - - (14,000,031) (14,000,031)

Net income for the year - - - - 34,003,710 34,003,710

Revaluation of fixed assets - - - 62,868 - 62,868

Other comprehensive income - - 2,972,330 (66) 66 2,972,330

31 December 2023 7,050,000 220,973 (1,627,162) 96,058 112,235,047 117,974,916

Dividends Payment - - - - (17,000,018) (17,000,018)

Net income for the year - - - - 39,108,198 39,108,198

Other comprehensive income - - (2,471,859) - - (2,471,859)
_ 31 December 2024 7,050,000 220,973 (4,099,021) 96,058 134,343,227 137,611,237

On behalf of the Management Board of the Bank:
CITIC 5.
@“\“iqepuug g “"’7#
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L rg.‘b ‘b(\ \f_‘o‘" 0’06 .6"') ﬂ
i} § Karzhaube Z
Chief ant
28 February 2025 28 February 2025
L
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L The notes set out on pages from 5 to 80 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)

Statement of Cash Flows - for the Year Ended 31 December 2024

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge

Notes 31 December 2024

31 December 2023

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest income received

99,906,710 73,321,791

Interest income received from Cash and cash equivalents and Due from other

financial institutions 5,349,370 8,319,891
Interest income received from Debt securities at fair value through other

comprehensive income 11,517,835 3,536,868
Interest income received from Debt securities at amortised cost 7,195,415 6,704,212
Interest income received from Loans and advances to customers 75,844,090 54,760,820
Interest expenses paid (48,404,261) (41,632,864)
Interest expenses paid on Current accounts and deposits from customers (37,649,631) (33,725,534)
Interest paid on Due to other financial institutions (10,754,630) (7,907,330)
Fees and commissions received 4,979,272 5,630,369
Fees and commissions paid (4,243,838) (4,959,803)
Repayments from operations with financial instruments at fair value through

profit or loss (496,306) (736,765)
Proceeds from operations with foreign currencies 5,980,672 8,772,927
Proceeds from other income 213,371 118,428
Operating expenses paid (14,850,903) (12,358,153)
Income tax paid (3,648,737) (2,876,207)
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in operating assets

and liabilities 39,435,980 25,279,723
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Net (decrease)/increase in mandatory cash balances with NBRK (2,783,571) 3,489,709
Net decrease in due from other financial institutions (8,572,463) (13,200,737)
Net (decrease)/increase in financial instruments at fair value through profit or

loss (17,330) 11,827
Net decrease in loans and advances to customers (147,132,015) (71,853,716)
Net increase in documentary settlements 608,562 1,453,134
Net decrease in other assets (1,958,754) (1,104,565)
Net increase in due to other financial institutions 642,012 4,728,989
Net (decrease)/increase in repurchase agreements (33,407,886) 2,505,087
Net increase/(decrease) in current accounts and deposits from customers 125,115,955 (128,284,906)
Net increase in other liabilities 2,870,691 2,744,830
Net increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 73,298 (508)
Net cash from operating activities (25,125,521) (174,231,133)
Cash flows from investing activities
Disposal and redemption of debt securities at FVOCI 167,354,024 913,005,667
Acquisition of debt securities at FVOCI (224,811,5286) (898,920,292)
Acquisition of property and equipment (1,372,517) (957,153)
Proceed from property and equipment 64,628 :
Acquisition of intangible assets (503,747) (352,079)
Proceeds from redemption of debt securities at AC 83,139,526 46,236,667
Acquisition of financial assets at AC (25,872,400) (76,177,851)
Net cash used in investing activities (2,002,012) (17,165,041)
Cash flow from financing activities
Repayment of finance lease liabilities (356,640) (526,946)
Payment of dividends

(17,000,018)

(14,000,031)

Net cash used in financing activities

(17,356,658) (14,526,977)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,671,293 (1,974,941)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (42,812,898) (207,898,092)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the-ye 5 121,308,225 329,206,317
Cash and cash equivalents, end of4 5 78,495,327 121,308,225
L
e S
On behalf of the Managey 'ﬁts}g—é!
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The notes set out on pages from 5 to 80 form an integral part of these financial statements.



JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Nofes to the Financial Statements

1 Introduction

These financial statements of Altyn Bank JSC (China Citic Bank Corporation Limited) (the “Bank™) have been prepared

in accordance with IFRS accounting standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

JSG Altyn Bank (SB of JSC Halyk Bank) (“the Bank”) was incorporated in the Republic of Kazakhstan (the “RK" in
1998 as JSC HSBC Bank Kazakhstan. Due to the change of the sole shareholder of the Bank in November 2014, it
was decided to rename the Bank from JSC HSBC Bank Kazakhstan to JSC Altyn Bank (SB of JSC Halyk Bank). On
24 April 2018 China Citic Bank Corporation Ltd and China Shuangwei Investment Co., Ltd. purchased jointly 60% of

the Bank’s share capital. After completion of the transaction, the Bank was renamed to JSC Altyn Bank (SB China Citic
Bank Corporation Limited).

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 Bank shareholders are China Citic Bank Corporation Limited (80.1%

stake in share capital), JSC Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan (40.0% stake in share capital) and China Shuangwei Investment
Co. Ltd. (9.9% stake in share capital).

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 ultimate controlling party of the Bank is China Citic Bank Corporation
Limited. Bank is China Citic Bank Corporation Limited is a Chinese Bank and a subsidiary of the state-owned

conglomerate CITIC Limited. JSC Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan is under the control of Timur Kulibayev and his wife Dinara
Kulibayeva through JSC Holding Group ALMEX

In 2015, the state authorities registered the Bank's declared shares and the total amount of declared ordinary shares
was 220,500. In 2024 and 2023 new shares were not issued.

The Bank has operated under General license issued by the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan for Regulation and
Development of Financial Market (hereinafter - “Regulatory Agency”) number 1.2.23/194/33 dated 3 February 2020.
The Bank’s principal business activity is lending, issuing of guarantees and letters of credit, attraction of customer
accounts, payrment services, investment securities operations, currency dealing and operations with derivative financial

instruments. Bank's operations are regulated by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan (hereinafter - “NBRK™
and Regulatory Agency.

The Bank is a member of the mandatory deposit insurance system provided by JSC Kazakhstan Deposit Insurance
Fund.

The Bank's registered address is: 109 B, Abay ave, Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan, AOSA1B9.

As at 31 December 2024 the Bank has six branches (2023: six branches) in Aimaty, Astana, Atyrau, Aktau, Shymkent
and a branch in the Astana International Financial Center.

Economic environment in which the bank operates

Kazakhstan's economy remains vulnerable to the indirect economic impact of sanctions in neighboring countries
imposed foliowing the military actions between Russia and Ukraine.

In September 2024, international rating agency Moody's upgraded Kazakhstan's sovereign rating to Baa1 with a stable
outlook, reflecting strong independent external and fiscal balances resilient to shocks, as well as financing flexibility,
supported by accumulated savings from oil revenues. These strengths are offset by high commodity dependence,
export concentration risk, high inflation, which partly reflects less developed macroeconomic policies compared to its
‘BBB’ peers, and weak governance indicators. Kazakhstan remains heavily dependent on crude oil and oil
condensates, which account for 53% of exports and about a third of fiscal revenues. Progress in economic
diversification includes developing the mid-corridor transportation sector and securing new investment in renewable
energy but has not been sufficient to significantly increase the share of non-energy GDP.

As at the date of issuing these financial statements the official exchange rate of the National Bank of the Republic

Kazakhstan was Tenge 501.49 per US Dollar 1 compared to Tenge 525.11 per US Dollar 1 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: Tenge 454.56 per 1 US Dollar),

The inflation rate was relatively stable during 2024, at 8.6% in December 2024, compared with 9.8% in December

2023. Economic growth slowed to 3.8% in 2024 in comparison with 5.1% in 2023. Analysts forecast that GDP growth
will accelerate to 5% in 2025.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Introduction {Continued)

The economic environment has a significant impact on the Bank's operations and financial position. Management is
taking necessary measures to ensure sustainability of the Bank's operations. However, the future effects of the current
economic situation are difficult to predict, and management's current expectations and estimates could differ from
actual results. Additionally, financial sector in the Republic of Kazakhstan is still impacted by political, legislative, fiscal
and regulatory developments. The prospects for future economic stability in the Republic of Kazakhstan are largely
dependent upon the effectiveness of economic measures undertaken by the Government, together with legal,
controlling and political developments, which are beyond the Bank’s control.

Management is unable to predict the extent and duration of changes in all factors or assess their possible impact on
the Bank’s future financial position. Management is confident that it is taking all necessary measures to maintain the
sustainability and growth of the Bank's operations in the current circumstances. Because the future effects of the current

economic environment are difficult to predict, management's current expectations and estimates may differ from actua
results.

2 Material Accounting Policy

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards (*IFRS").

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as medified by the initial
recognition of financial instruments at fair value, and by the revaluation of premises and equipment, financial
instruments categorized at fair value through profit or loss and at fair vaiue through other comprehensive income. The
principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

These financial statements are addressed to the Bank's primary users, which are investors who lend or provide equity
capital to the Bank. These financial statements assume that key users have reasonable knowledge of the business and
economic activities and have appropriately verified and reviewed the information. At times, even knowledgeable and

careful users may need the assistance of an advisor to understand the complex economic information reflected in these
financial statements,

The objective of these financial statements is to disclose oniy information that management considers to be material to
its principal users. Management is careful not to impair the understandability of these financial statements by obscuring

material information by immaterial information. Accordingly, only significant accounting policies are disclosed, as
appropriate, in the applicable disclosure notes.

Presentation of statements of financial position items in order of liquidity. The Bank does not have a clearly identifiable
operating cycle and therefore the Bank does not present current and non-current assets and long-term and current
liabilities separately in the statement of financial position. Instead, assets and liabilities are presented in order of
liquidity. An analysis of financial instruments by expected maturity is provided in Note 29. The table below provides
information about the amounts expected to be recovered or settled before or after 12 months after the end of the
reporting pericd for items not included in the analysis presented in Note 29,

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Amounts expected to be Amounts expected to
repaidireimbursed be repaid/reimbursed
within after within after
12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months
after the after the after the after the
end of the end of the end of the end of the
reporting reporting reporting reporting
In thousands of Kazakhstani tenge period period Total period period Total
ASSETS
Current tax assets 453,509 - 453,509 1,046,870 - 1,046,970
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 943 485 (107,353} 836,132 726,653 {43,587) 683,066
Fixed assets 190,253 7.412,525 7,602,778 452,160 6,884,365 7.336,525
Intangible assets 519,041 1,085,788 1,604,829 57,965 1,537,178 1,595,143
Other assets 897,198 - 897,108 781,801 - 781,801
LIABILITIES
Provision for credit refated
cormmitments 1,210,044 - 1,210,044 1,129,154 - 1,129,154
Other liabilities 4,544 817 - 4,544 817 5,750,255 - 5,750,255




JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.}
Notes to the Financial Statements

3 Critical Accounting Estimates, and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

Significant assumptions used in applying accounting policies

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognized in the financial statements and the
carrying amotnts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated
based on management's experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that management
believes are reasonable in light of current circumstances, In the process of applying accounting policies, management
also uses judgments and estimates. Judgments that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the

financial statements and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year inciude:

Expected credit loss measurement

Measurement of expected credit losses is a significant estimate that involves determination of methodology, models
and data inputs. Details of expected credit losses measurement methodology are disclosed in Note 29, The following
components have a major impact on credit loss allowance: definition of default, a significant increase in credit risk,
probability of default, exposure at default, and loss given default.

Credit exposure on revolving credit facilities (credit cards, overdrafts)

For certain loan facilities, the Bank's exposure to credit losses may extend beyond the maximum contractual period of
the facility. This exception applies to certain revolving credit facilities, which include both a loan and an undrawn
commitment component and where the Bank's contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn
component in practice does not limit its exposure to credit losses.

For such facilities, the Bank measures expected credit losses over the period that the Bank is exposed to credit risk
and expected credit losses are not mitigated by credit risk management actions. Application of this exception requires
judgement. Management applied its judgement in identifying the facilities, both retail and commercial, to which this
exception applies. The Bank applied this exception to facilities with the following characteristics: (a) there is no fixed
term or repayment structure, (b) the contractual ability to cancel the contract is not in practice enforced as a result of
day-to-day management of the credit exposure and the contract may only be cancelled when the Bank becomes aware
of an increase in credit risk at the level of an individual facility, and (c) the exposures are managed on a collective basis.
Further, the Bank applied judgement in determining a period for measuring the expected credit losses, including the
starting point and the expected end point of the exposures.

The Bank considered historical information and experience about: {a) the period over which the Barnk is exposed to
credit risk on similar facilities, including when the last significant modification of the facility occurred and that therefore
determines the starting point for assessing significant increase in credit risk, (b) the length of time for related defaults
to occur on similar financial instruments foliowing a significant increase in credit risk and (c) the credit risk management
actions (the reduction or removal of undrawn limits), prepayment rates and other factors that drive expected maturity.
In applying these factors, the Bank segments the portfolios of revolving facilities into sub-Banks and applies the factors
that are most relevant based on historical data and experience as well as forward-looking information.

Significant increase in credit risk ("SICR”)

In order to determine whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank compares the risk of a
default occurring over the life of a financial instrument at the end of the reporting date with the risk of default at the date
of initial recognition. The assessment considers relative increase in credit risk rather than achieving a specific level of
credit risk at the end of the reporting period. The Bank considers all reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information available without undue cost and effort, which includes a range of factors, including behavioral aspects of
particular customer portfolios. The Bank identifies behavioral indicators of increases in credit risk prior to delinquency

and incorporated appropriate forward-looking information into the credit risk assessment, either at an individual
instrument, or on a portfolio level.

The bank conducted the following sensitivity analysis of the amount of provisions: 1) transfer of alt loans to the Stage
2 from the Stage 1 at once, 2) the effect of collateral on impaired loans. Provided that all the loans would move at once
from the Stage 1 to the Stage 2, Bank provisions would increase by Tenge 27,103,165 thousand
(Tenge 19,574,482 thousand in 2023). If the Bank would had no collateral for impaired loans, provisions would have
increased by Tenge 2,944,429 thousand (Tenge 849,174 thousand in 2023). In case of all loans would simultaneously
move from the first stage to the third stage, the Bank's provisions would have increased by Tenge 302,916,828
thousand (Tenge 200,611,393 thousand in 2023). If loans remain at the current stage and LGD will be 100%, the Bank's
provisions would have increased by Tenge 8,152,950 thousand (Tenge 6,867,997 thousand in 2023).

Property, plant and equipment carried at revalued amounts
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3 Critical Accounting Estimates, and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies {Continued)

Buildings and constructions are measured at revalued amounts. Land and the building of the Bank were purchased at

market price. Revaluation of this group of assets is performed once in two years. Details of the valuation methods used
are set out in Note 10.

In 2024, the Bank did not revalue fixed assets, since the results of the analysis conducted by the Bank showed an
insignificant decrease in the market value from the book value. In 2023, the Bank carried out a revaluation of the
building and the land in October 2023. The valuation was conducted by an independent appraisal — PKF Property
Valuation LLP. The comparative market approach is used in determining the market value of fixed assets. For
determination of fair value of fixed assets of the Bank Level 3 classification was used, since the initial data for the
assessment was the quoted prices from publicly available Internet resources, adjusted for specifics of the premises.

Determination of the lease term

The Bank leases office buildings from third parties under contracts which do not have contractual maturity dates and
are automatically renewed unless either party submits a fermination notice of 6 months. The Bank determines non-
cancellable lease period for such leases, taking into consideration penalties that would be incurred upon termination,
including economic disincentives such as leasehold improvements, cost of relocating or the importance of the premises

to the Bank's operations. As a result, the lease term for most significant office buildings has been determined as a
period of 4-5 years,

4 Adoption of New or revised standards and interpretations and new accounting pronouncements

The following amendments became effective from 1 January 2024:

¢ Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (issued on 22 September 2022 and
effective for annual pericds beginning on or after 1 January 2024).

*  Classification of liabilities as current or non-current — Amendments to 1AS 1 (criginally issued on 23 January 2020
and subsequently amended on 15 July 2020 and 31 October 2022, ultimately effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024),

s Amendments to |AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier Finance
Arrangements {Issued on 25 May 2023).

The application of the above amendments did not have & material impact on the Bank's financial statements.

Certain new standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2025 or later, and which the Bank has not early adopted.

e Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability (Issued on 15 August 2023 and effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2025).

¢ Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments - Amendments to IFRS 9 and
IFRS 7 (issued on 30 May 2024 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026).

o IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (Issued on 8 April 2024 and effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027).

e [FRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures (issued on 8 May 2024 and effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027).

e IFRS 14, Reqgulatory Deferral Accounts {issued on 30 January 2014).

*  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture — Amendments to IFRS
10 and 1AS 28 (issued on 11 September 2014 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined by the IASB).

»  Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards (Issued in July 2024 and effective from 1 January 2026).

The Bank is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on its financial statements.
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§ Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of the following amounts:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Cash balances with the NBRK 28,831,529 69,040,279
Correspondent accounts and overnight placements with other banks

with original maturities up to 30 days 47,491,536 40,080,448
Cash on hand 2,172,262 2,176,302
Reverse repurchase agreements - 10,011,196
Total cash and cash equivalents 78,495,327 121,308,225

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, available balances on correspondent and term accounts with the
NBRK with an original maturity of no more than three months, funds with credit institutions with an original maturity of
no more than three months, not encumbered by any contractual obligations, as well as reverse repurchase agreements
with an initial maturity of less than three months. Funds that are restricted from being used for a period of more than

three months at the time of grant are excluded from cash and cash equivalents in both the statement of financial position
and the statement of cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost because (j) they are held to collect contractual cash flows and

those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and inferest and (i) they are not classified as measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

The table below provides an analysis of the credit quality of cash and cash equivalent balances based on credit risk

levels as of 31 December 2024 and 31 Decernber 2023. A description of the Bank's credit risk classification system is
presented in Note 29.

Correspondent accounts and
overnight placements with other
Cash balances with hanks with original maturities

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge the NBRK up to 30 days Total
31 December 2024
Excellent - 36,883,646 36,883,646
Good 28,831,529 10,607,890 39,439,419
Total cash and cash equivalents,
excluding cash on hand 28,831,529 47,491,536 76,323,065
Correspondent
accounts and
overnight
placements with
other banks with Reverse
Cash balances original maturities repurchase
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge with the NBRK up to 30 days agreements Total

31 December 2023
Excellent - 31,094,100

- 31,094,100

Good 69,040,279 8,986,348 10,011,196 88,037,823
Total cash and cash equivalents,

excluding cash on hand 69,040,279 40,080,448 10,011,196 119,131,923
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5 Cash and Cash Equivalents (Continued)

For the purpose of expected credit losses measurement cash and cash equivalent balances are inciuded in Stage 1 as
at 1 January and 31 December 2024. Expected credit losses measurement approach is disclosed in Note 29.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of cash and cash equivalents of the three largest counterparty banks,

excluding the NBRK, amounted to Tenge 34,714,447 thousand (2023: Tenge 31,640,209 thousand} or 44% percent of
cash and cash equivalents (2023: 26%).

With the exception of reverse repurchase agreements, cash and cash equivalents are not collateralised.

As at 31 December 2023, purchase and sale agreements (“reverse REPO") with other banks with a maturity of less
than three months are provided in the table below:

31 December 2023
Over-collateralised assets

Carrying value of Fair value of
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge the assets collateral
Reverse repurchase agreements with other banks with original

maturities of less than three months 10,011,196 10,002,419

6 Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are presented as follows:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Derivatives 28,411 11,081
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 28,411 11,084

10
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Notes to the Financial Statermnents

6 Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss {Continued)

significant impact on the profit or loss of the Bank.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or less comprise:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge

31 December 2024

A relatively small movement in the value of the asset, rate or index underlying a derivative contract may have a

31 December 2023

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Derivative financial instruments

81,578

8,280

Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

81,578

8,280

7 Loans to Customers

Loans to customers are presented as follows:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge

31 December 2024

31 December 2023

Loans to legal entities

Corporations 118,771,089 96,751,777
- Small and medium-sized enterprises 61,572,073 62,595,006
Total loans to legal entities 181,343,162 159,346,783
Loans to individuals
Mortgage loans 189,864,754 116,414,246
Consumer loans 141,836,543 117,445,732
- Car loans 29,082,711 -
Credit Cards 2022773 1,971,003
Total loans to individuals 362,806,781 235,830,981
= Total loans to customers at gross carrying amount 544,149,943 395,177,764
3 Less: credit loss allowance (18,831,963) (12,243,760)
Total foans to customers 525,317,980 382,934,004

Loans and advances to customers are accounted for when the Bank provides funds fo customers in the form of
advances for the purpose of acquiring the customer's credit or extending credit to the customer, Based on the business
model and cash flow characteristics, the Bank classifies loans and advances to customers into one of the following
measurement categories: (i) at amortized cost: loans held to collect contractual cash flows that represent solely
payments of principal and interest, and loans that are not designated as measured at fair value through profit or loss

on a voluntary basis, and (i} at fair value through profit or loss: loans that do not meet the SPPI test or other criteria for

measurement at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

12
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7 Loans to Customers (Continued)

Impairment allowances are determined based on projected expected credit loss models. Notes 3 and 7 provide

information about the inputs, assumptions and calculation methods used in estimating ECLs, including an explanation
of how the Bank incorporates projections into its ECL models.

The Bank uses the following classification of loans by classes:

Loans to legal entities:

«  Corporations — loans issued to clients with annual revenue more than 3,000,000 minimum calculated indicators or
average annual quantity of employees more than 250;

s« Small and medium-sized enterprises (SME) - loans issued to clients with annual revenue less than
3,000,000 minimum calculated indicators or average annual quantity of employees less than 250.

As at 31 December 2024, the established minimum calculated indicator of RK was Tenge 3,692 (2023: Tenge 3,450).
' Loans provided to individuals:

¢ Morigage loans;

o Consumer loans;

¢ Carloans;

e Credit cards.

Loans to customers comprise:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Gross Gross
carrying Credit loss Carrying carrying Credit loss Carrying
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge amount aliowance amount amount allowance amount

Loans to legal entities

Corporations 119,771,089 (2,532,872) 117,238,217 96,751,777 (1,772,834) 94,878,943
Small and medium-sized enterprises 61,572,073 (1,463,919) 60,108,154 62,585,006 (2,845,337) 59,749,669

Loans to individuals

Mortgage loans 189,864,754 (3,041,117} 186,823,637 116,414,246 1,043,350y 115,370,898
3 Consumer foans 141,836,543  (11,552,564) 130,283,979 117,445,732 {6,443,033) 111,002,699
: Car loans 29,082,711 (103,331) 28,979,380 - - -
. Credit cards 2,022,773 (138,160} 1,884,613 1,971,003 (139,2086) 1,831,797

Tota! loans and advances to
customers at amortised cost 544,149,943  (18,831,863) 525,317,980 395,177,764 (12,243,760) 382,934,004

13
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JSC "Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Carporation Ltd.)

Notes to the Financial Statements

7 lLoans to Customers (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the credit quality of corporate, small and medium-sized enterprises, measured at
amartised cost, as of 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. The Bank's credit risk classification system is

described in Note 29.

Corporations
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
31 December 2024
- Excellent 2,412 518 - - 2,412,516
- Good 105,063,356 - - 105,063,356
- Satisfactory 12,295,217 - - 12,295,217
Gross carrying amount 119,771,089 - - 119,771,089
Credit loss allowance {2,532,872) - - (2,532,872)
Carrying amount 117,238,217 - - 117,238,217
Corporations
In theusands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
31 Pecember 2023
- Excellent 684,307 - - 684,307
- Good 87,891,104 - - 87,891,104
- Satisfactory 8,176,366 - - 8,176,366
Gross earrying amount 96,751,777 - - 96,751,777
Credit loss allowance (1,772,834) - - (1,772,834)
Carrying amount 94,978,943 - - 94,978,943
Small and medium-sized enterprises
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
31 December 2024
- Excellent 79,117 - - 78,117
- Good 60,575,099 84,354 - 60,659,453
- Satisfactory 22,242 - - 22,242
- Requires special monitoring - - - -
- Default - - 811,261 811,261
Gross carrying amount 60,676,458 84,354 811,261 61,572,073
Credit loss allowance (652,658) - {811,261) (1,463,919)
Carrying amount 60,023,300 84,354 - 60,108,154
Small and medium-sized enterprises
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
31 December 2023
- Excellent - - - -
- Good 53,592,499 - - 53,592,499
- Satisfactory 7,323,467 - - 7,323,467
- Requires special monitoring - 175,993 - 175,993
- Defauit - - 1,503,047 1,503,047
Gross carrying amount 60,915,966 175,993 1,603,047 62,595,006
Credit loss allowance (1,297,130) {45,160} (1,503.,047) (2,845,337)
Carrying amount 59,618,836 130,833 - 59,749,669
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes fo the Financial Statements

7 Loans to Customers (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the credit quality loans issued to individuals measured at amortised cost, as of 31

December 2024:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Mortgage loan

- Excellent 181,803,779 - - 181,903,779
- Good 2,800,028 - - 2,800,028
- Satisfactory - 535,069 - 539,069
- Requires special monitoring - 153,906 - 153,906
- Default - - 4,467 972 4,467,972
Gross carrying amount 184,703,807 692,975 4,467 972 189,864,754
Credit loss aflowance (640,048) (7,764) (2,393,285) {3,041,117)
Carrying amount 184,063,759 685,191 2,074,687 186,823,637
Consumer loans

- Excellent 130,104,797 - - 130,104,797
- Good 1,610,011 - - 1,610,011
- Satisfactory - 763,292 - 763,292
- Requires special monitoring - 715,116 - 715,116
- Default - - 8,643,327 8,643,327
Gross carrying amount 131,714,808 1,478,408 8,643,327 141,836,543
Credit loss allowance (3,425,811) (325,179) (7,801,574) {11,552,564)
Carrying amount 128,288,997 1,153,229 841,763 130,283,979
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Lid.)
Notes fo the Financial Statements

7 Loans to Customers (Continued)

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Car loans
' - Excellent 28,668,019 . - 28,668,019
- Good 304,966 - - 304,966
- Satisfactory - 92,686 - 92,686
- Requires special monitoring - 9,192 - 9,192
- Default - - 7,848 7,848
Gross carrying amount 28,972,985 101,878 7,848 28,082,711
Credit loss allowance (98,020} (1,112) (4,199)  (103,331)
Carrying amount 28,874,965 100,766 3,649 28,979,380
3 Credit cards
- Excelient 1,868,835 - - 1,868,835
- - Good 6,664 - - 6,664
- - Satisfactory - 393 - 383
- Requires special monitoring - 14,670 - 14,670
- - Default - - 132,211 132,211
Gross carrying amount 1,875,499 15,063 132,211 2,022,773
Credit loss allowance (28,279) {2,009} (107,872} {138,160)
Carrying amount 1,847,220 13,054 24,339 1,884,613
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3 JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes to the Financial Statements
7 Loans to Customers {Continued)
: The following is an analysis of the credit quality loans issued to individuals measured at amortised cost, as of 31
December 2023:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Mortgage loan

& - Excellent 113,015,497 - - 113,015,497

{ - Good 1,465,094 - - 1,465,094
- Satisfactory - 258,268 - 258,268
- Requires special monitoring - 143,151 - 143,151

— - Default - - 1,532,236 1,632,236
Gross carrying amount 114,480,591 401,419 1,532,236 116,414,246
Credit loss aliowance (355,585) {4,705) (683,060)  (1,043,350)
Carrying amount 414,125,006 396,714 849,176 115,370,896
Consumer loans
- Excellent 110,898,657 - - 110,898,657
- Good 1,573,155 - - 1,573,155
- Satisfactory - 602,732 - 602,732
- Requires special monitoring - 397,038 - 397,038
- Default - - 3,974,150 3,974,150

Gross carrying amount 112,471,812 999,770 3,974,150 117,445,732
Credit loss allowance (2,705,082) (200,430) (3,537461)  (6,443,033)
Carrying amount 109,766,730 799,280 436,689 111,002,699
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

: Credit cards

- - Excelflent 1,800,482 - - 1,800,482
- Good 30,176 - - 30,176
- Satisfactory - 5,190 - 5,190
- Requires special monitoring - 6,027 - 6,027
- Defauit - - 129,128 129,128

» Gross carrying amount 1,830,658 11,217 129,128 1,971,003

2 Credit loss allowance (28,770) {1,203) {109,143) (139,206)
Carrying amount 1,801,888 9,924 19,885 1,831,797
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7 Loans to Customers (Continued)

Concentrations of loans by economic sectors is presented in the table below:

In thousands of Kazalkhstani Tenge

31 December 2024

31 December 2023

Analysis by economic sectors:
Individuals

362,806,781 235,830,982

Trade 102,385,892 73,593,384
Finance 47,598,231 52,524,744
Mining industry 10,392,559 5,988,791
Production 9,501,377 12,991,575
Services 7,008,042 8,520,724
Contructicn 1,051,476 -
Transport 1,027,493 -
Repair and maintenance 854,341 1,284,388
Energy 811,261 1,503,047
Real estate operations 22,243 89,046
Activities of holding companies - 1,799,468
Other 690,247 1,051,615
Total loans to customers before credit loss allowance

deduction 544,149,943 395,177,764
Less: credit loss allowance {18,831,963) (12,243,760)
Total loans to customers 525,317,980 382,934,004

Description of collateral held for loans fo customers carried at amortised cost as at 31 December 2024 is as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge corporations Loans to SME __Mortgage loans Carloans
Carrying amount 117,238,217 60,108,154 186,823,637 28,979,380
Cash deposits - 152,120 -
Real estate 44 598,270 319,627,019 -
Eguipment 3,303,148 - -
Inventory 4,943,258 - -
Transport 30,908,167 - 38,657,181
Guarantee 333,255,587 169,735,013 12,989,522 -
Securities 1,007,414 - -
Other 5,359,060 - -
Total 414,273,235 259,854, 330 332,768,661 38,657,181

As of 31 December 2024, consumer loans in the amount of Tenge 130,283,979 thousand {2023; Tenge 111,002,699
thousand) and credit cards in the amount of Tenge 1,884,613 thousand (2023: Tenge 1,831,797 thousand) have no

collateral.
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7 lLoans to Customers (Continued)

Description of collateral held for loans to corporates and individuals carried at amortised cost as at 31 December 2023

is as follows:
- Loans to
i in thousands of Kazaihstani Tenge corporations Loans to SME Mortgage loans
Carrying amount 94,978,943 59,749,668 115,363,405
Cash deposits 1,591,736 452 271,208
Real estate 20,135,612 49,015,035 207,005,729
- Plant and equipment 4,883,323 3,590,152 -
Inventory 25,844,350 4,460,726 -
Transport - 34,827,386 -
Guaraniees 308,428,419 190,078,915 11,189,841
s Investment securities 18,042,829 19,976,234
_ Other - 2,159,774
. Total 378,926,269 304,108,674 218,466,778

The degree of credit risk reduction associated with impaired financial assets measured at amortised cost, provided by
collateral and other mechanisms to improve the quality of a loan, is presented by separately disclosing the value of
collateral for (i) assets whose collateral and other mechanisms for improving the quality of credit are equal to the asset's
carrying amount or exceed it ("assets with excess collateral”) and (i) assets whose collateral and other mechanisms
for improving the quality of credit It is less than the carrying amount of the asset (“assets with insufficient collateral).
The table below shows the effect of collateral on impaired assets as of 31 December 2024:

Assets with excessive Assets with insufficient
collateral collateral
The carrying The carrying

B amount of Collateral amount of Collateral
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge assels value assets value
Impairment Assets:
Loans fo legal entities measured at amortized cost
Small and medium-sized businesses - 17,001,146 - -
Loans fo individuals measured at amortised cost

5 Morigage loans 2,074,687 8,532,385 - -
Consumer loans - - 841,753 -

i Car loans 3,649 9,280 . -

Credit cards - - 24,339 -

The table below shows the effect of collateral on impaired assets as of 31 December 2023;

Assets with excessive Assets with insufficient
collateral collateral
— The carrying The carrying
amount of Collateral amount of Collateral
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge assets value assets value
- Impairment Assets:
Loans to legal enlilies measured af amortized cost
Small and medium-sized businesses - - - -
= Loans to individuals measured at amortised cost
Mertgage loans 849,175 3,547,014 - -
; Consumer loans - - 436,689 -
: Credit cards - - 19,086 -
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8

Investments in Debt Securities

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income 242,233,341 181,798,375
Debt securities at amortised cost 88,096,446 147,251,408
Total investments in debt securities 330,329,787 329,049,783

net of allowance for expected credit losses:

The table below discloses investments in debt securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income,

Gross carrying Creditloss Carrying

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge amount allowance amount
31 December 2024
Bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the

Republic of Kazakhstan 204,954,991 (132,364) 204,822,627
Corporate bonds 28,764,015 (32,499) 28,731,516
Coupon bonds of European Bank for

Reconstruction and Development 7,623,241 {393) 7,622,848
Coupon bonds of Kazakhstani banks 1,057,619 (1,269) 1,056,350
Total debt securities measured at fair value

through other comprehensive income 242,399 866 (166,525) 242,233,341

Gross carrying Credit loss Carrying

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge amount allowance amount
31 December 2023
Bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the

Republic of Kazakhstan 159,610,020 {58,183) 168,651,837
Discount notes of the NBRK 14,929,110 - 14,929,110
Coupon bonds of European Bank for

Reconstruction and Development 7,317,428 - 7.317,428
Total debt securities measured at fair value

through other comprehensive income 181,859,558 {58,183) 181,798,375

Securities that are subject to repurchase agreements and that may be resold or repledged are disclosed in Note 14.

The table below discloses an analysis of the credit quality of debt securities measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income. The Bank's credit risk classification system is described in Note 29.

Bonds of Coupon bonds
the Ministry of European
of Finance Bank for Coupon
of the Reconstruction bonds of
in thousands of Kazakhstani Republic of Corporate and Kazakhstani
Tenge Kazakhstan bonds Development banks Total
31 December 2024
- Excellent - - 7,623,241 - 7,623,241
- Good 204,954,991 28,764,015 - 1,057,619 234,776,625
Total gross carrying
amount 204,954,991 28,764,015 7,623,241 1,067,619 242,399,866
Less credit loss allowance (132,364) (32,499) (393) (1,269) {166,525}
Total carrying value 204,822,627 28,731,516 7,622,848 1,056,350 242,233,341
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8 Investments in Debt Securities (Continued)

Coupon bonds

Bonds of the of European
Ministry of Bank for
Finance of the  Reconstructio
Discount notes Republic of nand
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge of the NBRK Kazakhstan Development Total
31 December 2023
- Good 14,929 110 159,610,020 7,317,428 181,856,558
Total gross carrying amount 14,929,110 159,610,020 7,317,428 181,856,558
Less credit loss allowance - (58,183) - (58,183)
Total carrying value 14,929,110 159,551,837 7,317,428 181,798,375

Debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income are unsecured.

The table below discloses invesiments in debt securities measured at amortised cost, less allowance for expected
credit losses:

Gross carrying Credit loss
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge amount allowance Carrying amount
31 December 2024
Corporate bonds 15,440,205 (12,163) 15,428,042
Bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the
Republic of Kazakhstan 72,728,431 (60,027} 72,668,404
Total debt securities measured at
amortised cost 88,168,636 (72,190) 88,086,446
Gross carrying Credit loss
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge amount aliowance Carrying amount
31 December 2023
Corporate bonds 23,721,880 - 23,721,880
Bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the
Republic of Kazakhstan 123,649,955 {120,427) 123,529,528
Total debt securities measured at
amortised cost 147,371,835 {120,427) 147,251,408

Investments in debt securities measured at amortized cost, less allowance for expected credit losses as of 31

December 2024 and 31 December 2023 have a rating of international rafing agencies equal to "BBB" {quality - good
level).

Debt securities measured at amortized cost are not secured, except for - City Transportation Systems LLP

Investments in debt securities of City Transportation Systems LLP in the amount of Tenge 5,316,738 thousand (2023:
Tenge 4,586,614 thousand). These securities of City Transportation Systems LLP are determined as "good” level, and
fully secured by the guarantee of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

For the purpose of estimating expected credit losses, the balance of investments in debt securities is included in Stage

1 as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. Information on the interest risk of investing in debt securities is
disclosed in Note 29,

30



JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes to the Financial Statements

9 Due from Other Financial Institutions
Amounts due from other financial institutions are presented as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Loans to financial institutions

27,815,491 18,411,247

Deposit pledged as collateral 4,962 645 3,241,089

Term deposits - 2,632,725

- Credit loss allowance (655,491) (1,008,796)
Total due from other financial institutions 32,122,645 23,276,265

Amounts due from credit institutions are recorded when the Bank provides funds to counterparty banks in the form of
advance payments. Due from other banks are carried at amortized cost if (i} they are held to collect contractual cash

o flows and those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest and (i) they are not designated as
: measured at fair value through profit or loss.

As of 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of funds placed with banks amounted to Tenge 27,815,491 thousand
- (2023: Tenge 18,411,247 thousand) or 87% of funds with credit institutions (2023: 79%).

In the table below, the carrying amounts of balances with other banks at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023
also reflect the Bank's maximum exposure to credit risk for these assets. A description of the Bank's credit risk
classification system is presented in Note 29,

Deposit Loans to
i pledged as financial
! in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Term deposits collateral institutions Total
31 December 2024
- Excellent - 3,387,395 - 3,387,385
- Good - 1,575,250 27,815,491 29,390,741
Total due from other financial
institutions - 4,962,645 27,815,491 32,778,136
Deposit Loans to
pledged as financial
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Term deposits collateral institutions Total
31 December 2023
- Excellent 2,632,725 1,686,088 - 4,318,814
o - Good - 1,555,000 14,869,534 16,424,534
- Satisfactory - - 3,541,713 3,541,713
Total due from other financial
institutions 2,632,725 3,241,089 18,411,247 24,285,061

At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 amounts due from other banks are not collateralised.

Refer to Note 286 for the estimated fair value of each class of amounts due from other banks. Interest rate analysis of
due from other banks is disclosed in Note 29. Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 30.
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JSC “Altyn Bank" (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.}

Notes to the Financial Statements

10 Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024 property, plant and equipment includes fully depreciated property, plant and equipment with
an initial cost of Tenge 2,417,592 thousand (2023; Tenge 1,753,807 thousand).

As part of its activities, the bank leases six office premises (2023: six). Lease agreements are recognized as right-of-
use assets, with a corresponding liability on the date the Bank receives use of the corresponding leased asset. Each
lease payment is aflocated between liability and finance charges. Finance costs are charged to profit or loss over the
lease term to provide a constant interest rate on the remaining liability each period. A right-of-use asset recognized at
cost is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the assat or the lease term, whichever ends first.

Depreciation is charged to write off the actual or estimated value of fixed assets (except for land plots and construction-
in-progress) less the salvage value evenly over the expected useful life. Expected useful lives, carrying armounts and
depreciation methods are analyzed at the end of each year and are recorded at the following annual rates:

Buildings and structures

1-5%
Rental property improvement According to rental pericd
Computer equipment 20-33.3%
Transport 20%
Car tires, GPS equipment 33.3%
Furniture and other equipment 15-33.3%
Intangible assets 6.67-33.3%
11 Intangible Assets
License Agreement
for the right Computer
In thousands of Kazakhslani Tenge to use software Software Trademark Total
Cost
1 January 2023 1,910,253 2,799,453 155 4,709,861
Additions 185,810 173,078 - 358,888
Disposals {1,072) (6,810) - (7,882)
31 December 2023 2,094,991 2,965,721 155 5,060,867
Additions 266,626 260,932 - 527,558
Disposals (11,045) (860) - (11,905)
31 December 2024 2,350,572 3,225,793 155 5,676,620
Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2023 957,776 1,995,881 - 2,953,657
Depreciation charge 348,939 164,200 - 513,139
Disposals (1,072) - - (1,072)
31 December 2023 1,305,643 2,160,081 - 3,485,724
Depreciation charge 343,470 174,402 - 517,872
Disposals (11,045) (860) - {11,805)
31 December 2024 1,638,068 2,333,623 - 3,971,691
Carrying amount
31 December 2023 789,348 805,640 155 1,595,143
31 December 2024 712,504 892,170 155 1,604,82¢

As ar 31 December 2024 intangible assets includes fully amortised intangible assets worth Tenge 3,352,408 thousand

(2023: Tenge 1,860,397 thousand).
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12 Other Assets

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Other financial assets

1 Receivables related to agency services 2,729,112 726,935
Receivables related to card operations 480,572 750,128
Other investments 426,581 314,787

N Choco Travel customer receivables 13,064 13,064

' Accrued commission income 9,858 8,183

Receivables related to Kazakhstan Stock Exchange 3,676 3,676
Others 30,418 33,151
Total other financial assets 3,693,281 1,849,925
l.ess credit loss allowance (35,580} {28,708)

a Total other financial assets 3,657,701 1,821,217
Other non-financial assets
Prepayments for goods and services 566,465 573,857
Receivables related to capital expenditures 129,887 6,545
Inventory 107,757 120,331
Receivables related to non-core banking activities 72,980 71,771
Others 20,129 9,297

Total other non-financial assets 897,198 781,801
— Less provision for impairment - -

Total other assets 4,554,899 2,603,018

. For the purpose of estimating expected credit losses, other assets are included in Stage 1 as of 31 December 2024
o and 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, accounts receivable include mutual seitlements on card
transactions with Master Card, VISA and Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC.

Receivables
- related to card Other financial
3 In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge transactions assets Total
31 December 2024
Excellent 480,572 - 480,572
Good - 3,177,129 3.177,129
Total 480,572 3,177,129 3,657,701
L Receivables
related to card Other financial
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge transactions assets Total
31 December 2023
Excellent 750,129 - 750,129
% Good - 1,071,088 1,071,088
- Total 750,129 1,074,088 1,821,217
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13 Due to Other Financial Institutions

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Correspondent accounts of other banks 6,157,461 1,015,449
Long-term loans from organisations engaged in certain types of

banking operations 180,524 180,524
Account for storing money accepted as collateral 26,257 -
Term deposits - 4,503,638
Total due to other financial institutions 6,364,242 5,699,611

Accounts and deposits of other banks are reflected starting from the moment funds or other assets are provided to the
Bank by counterparly banks. Non-derivative financial liabllities are stated at amortized cost. if the Bank acquires its
own debt, the liability is removed from the statement of financial position and the difference between the carrying
amount of the liability and the consideration paid is included in debt settlement income or expense.

Cash on correspondent accounts is used in the framework of the Bank's operations.

As at 31 December 2024, the Bank had 9 counterparties (2023: 10 counterparties) with balances in excess of Tenge
6,050 thousand (2023: Tenge 5,698 thousand) or 0.77% (2023: 0.84%) of total due to other financial instifutions.

14 Repurchase Agreements

The table below disclosures the fair value of assets transferred as collateral and the carrying value of liabilities under
repurchase agreements as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Carrying  Fair value of Carrying  Fair value of
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge value collateral value collateral
Accounts payable under repurchase agreements 32,808,452 34,302,696 66,216,338 66,398,505
Total repurchase agreements 32,808,452 34,302,696 66,216,338 66,398,505

The loans under repurchase agreements are used by the Bank for further loan financing, as well as to ensure the cash
flow in national currency as part of the Bank's operating activities. The Bank regularly uses this type of financiai
instruments and plans to continue to raise funds through loans under repurchase agreements, if necessary.

Assets purchased under repurchase agreements are recorded in the financial statements as a loan secured by
securities or other assets and are classified as cash and cash equivalents.

The Bank enters into securities repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions for which it receives or
transfers collateral in accordance with normal market practices. In accordance with the standard terms of buyback
transactions in the Republic of Kazakhstan, the recipient of the collateral dees not have the right to sell or repledge the
coliateral, subject to the return of equivalent securities upon setllement of the transaction. Transfers of securities to

counterparties are recognized in the statement of financial position only when the risks and rewards of ownership are
also transferred.

The assets transferred as collateral for repo transactions are bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of
Kazakhstan.
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15 Current Accounts and Deposits from Customers

Current accounts and deposits from customers are represented as follows:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Legal entities

- Term deposits 272,013,630 153,130,932
- Current/settlement accounts 166,926,758 194,364,590
Individuals

- Term deposits 292,381,654 255,911,647
- Current/settlement accounts 70,087,820 72,966,777
Total current accounts and deposits from customers 801,409,862 676,373,946

Customer accounts represent non-derivative financial liabilities to individuals, government or corporate customers and
are carried at amortized cost.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, current accounts and customer deposits in the amount of
Tenge 3,000,295 thousand and Tenge 17,941,385 thousand, respeciively, were collateral for letters of credit, loans,
guarantees and other contingent liabilities of the Bank.

Information about the fair value measurements of each category of customer accounts is disclosed in Note 26. An

analysis of the interest rates of customer accounts is disclosed in Note 29. Information on transactions with related
parties is disclosed in Note 30.

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Analysis by economic sector/fcustomer type:

Individuals and entrepreneurs 362,469,474 328,878,424
Trade 77,340,626 88,646,845
Construction 60,109,601 32,771,163
Mining and metalurgy 52,181,640 15,836,635
Architecture and engineering 51,925,383 7,973,519
Transport 49 495,983 26,283,110
Financial sector 35,609,910 39,061,555
Qil and gas 28,300,568 37,798,632
Energy 18,522,095 17,796,682
Chemical industry 8,778,129 7,671,598
Education 7,163,344 5,373,028
Mechanical engineering 6,483,380 2,021,436
Consulting services 5,756,262 6,218,451
Computer programming and manufacturing 4,703,466 77,802
Food 4,188,357 6,678,800
Communication 3,600,679 15,815,438
Insurance {reinsurance) and activities of pension funds 3,061,658 4,096 468
Activities of international organisations 1,603,986 1,480,785
Human resources 1,357,408 819,130
Scientific research and development 1,062,961 20,887,055
Real estate 713,631 086,322
Agriculture 100,325 87,808
Other 16,890,996 9,103,259
Total current accounts and deposits from customers 801,409,862 676,373,946

As at 31 December 2024, the Bank had 28 clients (2023: 26 clients) with balances exceeding
Tenge 5,000,000 thousand. The aggregate balance of such clients' funds amounted to Tenge 316,110,191 thousand
(2023: Tenge 232,886,897 thousand), or 38% (2023: 34%) of the total client funds.
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16 Other Liabilities

Other liabilities are represented as follows:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Other financial liabilities:

Commitments from continuing involvement 16,126,880 13,965,031
Settlements with employees 654,892 492 468
Finance lease liabilities 643,896 568,967
Accounts payable 254,048 239,712
Other 761,997 277,348
Total other financial liabilities 18,441,713 15,544,426
Other non-financial liabilities:

Reserve for bonuses 4,246,573 3,365,844
PDeferred income 125,922 93,508
Tax expenses other than income tax 116,803 95,239
Accrued expenses 55,520 64,925
Estimatad provision for tax liabilities - 2,130,739
Total other non-financial liabilities 4,544,818 5,750,255
Total other liabilities 22,986,531 21,294,681

Comumitments from continuing involvement represent liabilities to Kazakhstan Sustainability Fund JSC (*KFU") related
to the state morigage program *7-20-25" and other programs. In accordance with the terms of this program, the Bank
provides mortgage loans to borrowers and transfers the rights of claim on leans to the KFU program. In accordance
with the program and trust management agreement, the Bank carries out frust management of transferred mortgage
loans if there is a delay in the principa! debt and interest on lcans for more than 90 calendar days. Repurchase is
carried out at the nominal value of the loan at the date of purchase.

Bank has retained substantially ail the risks and rewards of ownership and control of the transferred asset. The Bank
continues to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the asset.

In accordance with the management's assessment based on the preliminary act of documentary tax audit of the Bank
for the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2021 received from the tax authorities on 20 December 2023. The

Bank created provisions for undeclared amounts of income taxes, fines and penalties in the amount of Tenge 2,130,739
thousand as of 31 December 2023,

In 2024, the provision for undeclared amounts of income taxes, fines and penalties created as of 31 December 2023
in the amount of Tenge 2,130,739 thousand was fully recovered after receiving the final results of the tax audit,

The table below disclosures changes in the long-term lease of the Bank arising from financial activities in 2024. Debt
items are reflected in the statement of cash flows as financial activities,

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Balance on 1 January 568,967 817,951
Cash payment (356,640) (593,113)
Other changes not related to cash flows 431,569 344,129
Balance on 31 December 643,896 568,967

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, cther liabllities also include finance lease liabiliies. Interest expense
on lease obligations amounted to Tenge 83,185 thousand in 2024 (2023: Tenge 98,816 thousand).
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17 Share Capital

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 the total authorized number of ordinary shares was 70,500 shares
with a par value of Tenge 100 thousand per share. On 19 August 2015, the Bank registered its declared additional
emission of shares and the total amount of declared ordinary shares was 220,500. New shares were not issued.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends which the Bark may declare from time to time and have
the right to vote at annual and general meetings of the shareholders.

Dividends payable are limited to the Bank's retained earnings in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of
Kazakhstan.

On 28 March 2024, the General Meeting of Shareholders of the Bank decided to pay dividends on ordinary shares in

the amount of Tenge 17,000,018 thousand, for the year ended 31 December 2023, payment was made on
10 Aprit 2024 and 20 June 2024,

On 24 March 2023, the General Meeting of Shareholders of the Bank decided to pay dividends on ordinary shares in

the amount of Tenge 14,000,031 thousand, for the year ended 31 December 2022, payment was made on
12 May 2023 and 24 May 2023,

The revaluation reserve for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income at 31 December 2024

and 2023 is the cumulative change in fair value of securities at fair value through other comprehensive income until
disposal.

18 Net Interest Income

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 77,684,254 55,773,857
Debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income 19,021,238 21,463,455
Debt securities at amortised cost 5,185,807 8,242 866
Cash and cash equivalenis 2,918,360 7,169,507
Due from other banks at amortised cost 2,381,792 967,960
Interest income on reverse repurchase agreements 71,556 332,082
Total interest income calculated using the effective interest method 107,264,007 93,949,727
Interest and other similar expense
Current accounts and deposits from customers (37,966,366) (33,731,148
Repurchase agreements accounts payable {10,059,285) {8,769,636)
Correspondent accounts of other banks (2,226,120) (837,642}
Interest expenses to JSC KFU (related to the state mortgage program

"7-20-25" and other prograrnmes) (660,901) (585,620}
Finance lease expenses (83,185) (98,816)
Total interest and other similar expense (50,995,857} {44,022,862)
Net interest income 56,268,150 49,926,865

Interest income on financial assets is recognized if it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Bank and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis and
calculated using the effective interest method. This calculation includes in interest income and expense all fees and
charges paid and received by parties to the contract that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs, and all other premiums or discounts.

Gains/losses from sales under repurchase agreements and the repurchasing of said agreements are recognized as
interest income or expense in the income statement based on the difference between the repurchase price accrued to
date using the effective interest method along with the sale price of such financial instruments to third parties. When a
reverse repurchase transaction is executed based on its original terms, the effective yieldfinterest, in terms of the

difference between the sale and repurchase price decided upon under the original agreement, is recognized using the
effective interest method also.
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19 Net Loss on Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss comprises:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Net loss on operations with financial assets and liabilities classified
as held for trading comprises:

Dealing, net (497,989) (738,192)
Change in fair value 1,683 (673}

Total net loss on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value through profit or loss {496,3086) (736,765}

The Bank enters into derivative financial instruments to manage currency and liquidity risks as well as gain on favorable
market movements and such financial instruments are held primarily for trading purposes.

20 Fee and Commission Income and Expenses

The table below disclosures an analysis of fee and commission income for each operating segment of the Bank for the
year ended 31 December 2024:

Retail Corporate

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Business Business Total
Fee and commission income:

Accounts maintenance 1,672,787 269,265 1,942,052
Cash operations 782,353 1,031,146 1,813,499
Guarantee issuance - 638,335 638,335
Letter of credit issuance - 410,147 410,147
Trust management - 610 610
Other 29,992 146,313 176,305
Total fee and commission income 2,485,132 2,495,816 4,880,948

Loan account opening fees, as well as related direct costs associated with originating loans, are recorded as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate on borrowings. In the case of a non-revolving line of credit, the loan commitment
fee is included in the loan discount (together with related direct costs) and is recorded as an adjustment to actual loan
proceeds. In the case of a non-revolving line of credit, the loan commitment fee is recognized in profit or loss over the
remaining period of the loan commitment. When a loan commitment expires without a loan being issued, the loan
commitment fee is recognized in profit or loss on the expiration date.

Other commission income is recognized over the period using the straight-line method when services are provided
when the client simultaneously receives and uses the benefits of the services provided by the Bank.

The table below disclosures an analysis of fee and commission income for each operating segment of the Bank for the
year ended 31 December 2023:

Retail Corporate

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Business Business Total
Fee and commission income:

Cash operations 708,805 1,531,569 2,240,374
Accounts maintenance 2,019,019 142,240 2,161,259
Guarantee issuance - 526,461 526,461
Letter of credit issuance - 526,424 526,424
Trust management - 1,283 1,283
Other 20,954 155,586 178,550
Total fee and commission income 2,748,778 2,883,573 5,632,351
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20 Fee and Commission Income and Expenses (Continued)

The table below disclosures an analysis of fee and commission expenses for each operating segment of the Bank for
the year ended 31 December 2024:

Retail Corporate
= In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Business Business Total
Fee and commission expenses:
K Transfer services (1,879,370) (965,614) (2,844,984
Customer loyalty program (385,439) - (385,439)
Individual deposit insurance (354,136) - (354,136)
Commissions received from Master Card and
Visa (271,785) - (271,785}
FCB and Pension fund expenses {180,577) - (180,577)
Transactions with securities - {100,096) (100,096)
Processing services (12,501) - (12,501)
Other (11,812) (71,179) (82,991)
Total fee and commission expenses {3,095,620) (1,136,889) (4,232,509)

The table below disclosures an analysis of fee and commission expenses for each operating segment of the Bank for
the year ended 31 December 2023;

Retail Corporate
in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Business Business Total
Fee and commission expenses:
Transfer services (2,043,924) (1,075,700} {3,119,624)
Individual deposit insurance (5683,034) - {583,034)
Customer loyalty program (582,253) - {582,253)
Commissions received from Master Card and
Visa (343,625) - (343,625)
FCB and Pension fund expenses (118,583) - (118,583)
L Processing services (13,949} - (13,.849)
Transactions with securities - (86,611) (86,611}
Other (56,675) (73,026) {129,701)
- Total fee and commission expenses {3,742,043) (1,235,337} (4,977,380)
= 21 Net Gain on Foreign Exchange Operations
Year ended
; in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Dealing gain, net 8,035,614 8,034,255
Net (loss)/gain on foreign currency revaluation with financial assets and
liabilities {383,649} 738,672
Net gain on forgign exchange operations 7,651,965 8,772,927

The Bank carries out transactions for the purchase and sale of foreign currencies through operating cash desks and
bank accounts, as well as for the exchange of foreign currencies. Transactions are carried out at exchange rates
established by the Bank, which differ from the official exchange rates on specific dates. Differences between official

rates and the Bank's exchange rates are recognized as gains less expenses on foreign exchange transactions at the
point in time when the specific performance obligation is satisfied.
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22 Cperating Expenses

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge

Year ended

31 December 2024

31 December 2023

Payroll costs

10,632,080 9,404,711
Social tax 843,983 763,680
Staff costs 11,476,063 10,168,391
Depreciation and amortisation 1,508,110 1,480,100
IT charges 1,421,384 1,270,053
Taxes, other than income tax 824,872 542,188
Advertising expenses 553,223 342,924
Business trip expenses 202,008 94,121
Professional services 178,838 165,254
Utilities 166,020 166,440
Property and equipment maintenance 146,348 114,827
Security expenses 141,142 145,182
Communications 122,600 194,190
Operating leases 102,933 81,504
Transportation 46,205 34,628
Insurance 41,436 38,057
Representation expenses 16,755 12,107
Expenses from impairment of fixed assets - 358,910
Other expenses 448,129 414,408
Total operating expenses 17,396,066 15,733,374

41



JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes to the Financial Statements

22 Operating Expenses (Continued)

Expenses for wages, contributions to the state pension fund and social insurance fund, paid annual leave and sick
leave, bonuses and benefits in non-monetary form are accrued as the relevant services are provided by the Bank's

employees. The Bank does not have any legal or constructive obligation to pay pensions or similar benefits other than
payments under the government's defined contribution plan.

For 2024 and 2023, the Bank transferred towards the payment of mandatory pension contributions in the amounts of
Tenge 731,816 thousand and Tenge 604,463 thousand, respectively.

Professional services include audit expenses of Tenge 54,839 thousand in 2024 (2023: Tenge 47,517 thousand). in
addition, the Bank was provided with ESG diagnostic services, tax consultation and open corporate seminars with a
total cost of Tenge 6,528 thousand in 2024 (2023: Tenge 17,489 thousand).

23 Earnings per Share

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculation of basic and diluted earnings per
share are as follows:

Year ended
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Net profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Bank 39,108,198 34,003,710
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share 70,500 70,500
Total basic and diluted earnings per share (tenge) 554,726 482,322

24 Income Taxes

The Bank makes calculations for income tax for the current period on the basis of tax accounting data carried out in

accordance with the requirements of the tax legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan, which may differ from IFRS
Accounting Standards.

The Bank is subject to certain permanent tax differences due to the non-tax deductibility of certain expenses and certain
income being treated as non-taxable for tax purposes.

The tax rate used for the reconciliations below is the corporate tax rate of 20% payable by corporate entities in the
Republic of Kazakhstan on taxable profits (as defined) under tax law in that jurisdiction.

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss for the year includes the following components:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Current income tax expense 4,269,678 2,285,001
Deferred tax benefit {153,066) (360,753)
Income tax expense for the year 4,116,612 1,924,248

The effective tax rate reconciliation for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Profit before tax 43 274,810 35,827,958
Tax at the statutory tax rate (20%) 8,654,962 7,185,592
Tax effect of permanent differences:

State and other securities (4,773,677) (5,911,603}
Non-deductible expenses 224,153 623,271

Current tax adjustment not recognised in prior years 11,174 26,988
Income tax expense 4,116,612 1,924,248
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24 Income Taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax reflects the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes. Temporary differences as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 mostly relate fo different methods#iming of income and expense recognition as well as

31 December

Recovery/{charge)

to temporary differences generated by tax — book bases’ differences for certain assets. The tax effects of the movement
of these temporary differences are detailed below.

31 December

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2023 to profit or loss 2024
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) relating to:
Tax losses on realised derivative financial

instruments carried forward 238,116 (20,271} 217,845
Other liabilities 885,720 223,352 1,108,072
Property, plant and equipment and Intangible

assets (438,713} (59,901) (498 614)
Other assets {1,497) {1,307) (2,804)
Unrealised revaluation of financial liabilities at

fair value through profit or loss (560) 11,193 10,633
Net deferred tax assets 683,066 153,066 836,132

31 December  Recoverylf{charge) 31 December

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2022 to profit or loss 2023
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) relating to:
Tax losses on realised derivative financial

instruments carried forward 266,606 {28,490) 238,116
Other liabilities 625,598 260,122 885,720
Property, plant and equipment and Intangible

assels {565,479) 126,766 {438,713)
Other assets (1,588) 91 {1,487)
Unrealised revaluation of financial liabilities at

fair value through profit or loss (2,824) 2,264 (560)
Net deferred tax assets 322,313 360,753 683,066

In accordance with the article 300, paragraph 12 of the Tax Code of Republic of Kazakhstan, losses on derivative
financial instruments are compensated from income on derivative financial instruments. Where those losses may not

be compensated in the period in which they were incurred, they may be carried forward for the next ten years inclusively
and offset by income from derivative financial instruments.

25 Contingencies and Commitments

In the course of its activities, in order to meet the needs of customers, the Bank uses financial instruments with oft-

balance sheet risks. These instruments, which carry varying degrees of credit risk, are not reflected in the statement of
financial position.

The Bank uses the same credit control and management policies in undertaking off-balance sheet commitments as it
does for on-balance operations.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023 contingencies are represented as follows:

In thousands of Kazalhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Contingent liabilities and credit commitments
Commitments on loans and unused credit lines

167,633,844 130,059,162
Guarantees issued and similar commitments 43,757,768 31,795,426
Letters of credit and other transaction related contingent obligations 7,261,171 13,124,742
Total contingent liabilities and credit commitments 218,652,783 174,979,330
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25 Contingencies and Commitments {Continued)

The Bank makes a decision on granting of loans to customers on each customer within the credit limits and depends
on financial position of the customer, their credit history and other factors. The amount of unused credit lines comprises
Tenge 167,633,844 thousand and Tenge 130,059,162 thousand as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The Bank does not create reserves of expected credit losses on unused credit lines, as the Bank’s loan agreements
either do not have obligations to automatically provide cash, or such loans are made on the basis of individual analysis
of a client's request. Whenever the Bank receives client's request for a new loan tranche under unused credit lines, it
is considered on an individual and independent basis each time. The procedure for issuing new tranches includes
checking the current financial situation of the client and approval by the Bank’s credit risk management unit. Since the
Bank has the right to refuse the application for new tranches without justifying the reasons for the refusal, the Bank
considers that the issue of new tranches for loans as part of its obligations is debatable and takes into account expected
credit losses only after the funds are transferred to the borrower.

The above process does not apply to credit card lines. This product has a completely different nature. A credit card
limit approved by the Bank can be used by a client at any time. In this regard, the Bank calculates the level of possible
development of the unused portion of credit lines on credit cards, based on available historical data, and calculates the
reserve of expected credit losses on this portion of unused credit lines on credit cards.

The following table illustrates an analysis of the quality of contingent liabilities related to letters of credit and guarantees:

Corporate clients

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As of 31 December 2024

- Excellent 2,129,308 - - 2,129,398

- Goed 34,989,313 - - 34,989,313

- Satisfactory 6,936,347 - - 6,936,347

Gross carrying amount 44,055,058 - - 44,055,058

Credit loss allowance (1,129,605) - - (1,128,605}
Carrying amount 42,925,453 - - 42,925.453

Corporate clients

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
As of 31 December 2023

- Exellent 2,663,832 - - 2,663,832
- Good 36,307,155 - - 36,307,155
- Satisfactory 1,643,679 - - 1,643,679
Gross carrying amount 40,614,666 - - 40,614,666
Credit loss allowance (1,038,655) - - (1,038,655)
Carrying amount 39,576,011 - - 39,576,011
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25 Contingencies and Commitments (Continued)

Small and medium-sized enterprises

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As of 31 December 2024

- Excellent 777,583 - - 777,563

- Good 6,133,054 13,836 - 6,146,880

Gross carrying amount 6,910,617 13,836 - 6,924,453

Credit loss allowance (56,741} - - (56,741)
Carrying amount 6,853,876 13,836 - 6,867,712

Small and medium-sized enterprises

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As of 31 December 2023

- Excellent 1,591 - - 1,591

- Good 4,010,749 - - 4,010,749

- Satisfactory - - - -

- Default - - 200,000 200,000

Gross carrying amount 4,012,340 - 200,000 4,212,340

Credit loss allowance (69,486) - - (69,486)
Carrying amount 3,942,854 200,000 4,142,854

Legal proceedings

From time fo time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Bank are received from customers and

counterparties. Management believes no material unaccrued losses will be incurred and accordingly no provision has
been made in these financial statements.

Taxation

Kazakhstan laws and regulations affecting business continue to change rapidly. Management's interpretation of such
legislation as applied to the activity of the Bank may be challenged by the relevant regional and republic authorities.
Tax authorities are taking a more assertive position in their interpretafion of the legistation and as a result, transactions
and activities that have not been challenged in the past may be challenged in future tax audits.

Fiscal periods remain open to tax audit by the authorities in respect of taxes for the five calendar years preceding the
year of tax audit. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods. Management believes that it has

accrued for all taxes that are applicable based on its interpretations of the tax legislation. However, the tax authorities
may have differing interpretations, and the effects could be significant.

In accordance with management's assessment based on the preliminary report of the Bank's documentary tax audit
received from the tax authorities on 20 December 2023 for the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2021, the

Bank, as of 31 December 2023, created provisions for undeclared amounts of income taxes, fines and penalties in the
amount of Tenge 2,130,739 thousand.

In 2024, the reserve for undeclared amounts of income tax, fines and penalties created as of 31 December 2023 in the
amount of Tenge 2,130,738 thousand was fully recovered after receiving the final resuits of the tax audit.
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25 Contingencies and Commiiments (Continued)

Operating environment

Management of the Bank is monitoring developments in the current environment and taking measures it considered
necessary in order to support the sustainability and development of the Bank’s business in the foreseeable future,

However, the impact of further economic developments on future operations and financial position of the Bank might
be significant.

26 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is the estimated price at which an asset can be sold or a liability settled in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the settlement date. The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price for an identical asset in
an active market. Quoted in an active market in this context means quoted prices are readily and regularly available
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis. Fair value of
financial instruments traded in an active market is measured as the amount obtained by multiplying the quoted price
by an individual asset or liability by their armount held by the entity. This is the case even if the usual daily market
turnover is insufficient to absorb the amount of assets and liabilities that the entity has, and placing orders to sell
positions in a separate transaction may affect the quoted price.

Determining the fair value of financial assets and liabilities for which there are no observable market quotes requires
the use of valuation techniques specified in the accounting policies. The fair value of financial assets that are rarely
traded and do not have price transparency is less objective and requires the use of different judgments depending on
liquidity, concentration, market uncertainty, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting a particular instrument.

Fair value measurements are analysed by level in the fair value hierarchy as follows:

(i) level one are measurements at quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

(i} level two measurements are valuations techniques with all material inputs observable for the asset or lability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that s, derived from prices), and

(iiiy level three measurements are valuations not based on ohservable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).
Management applies judgement in categorizing financial instruments using the fair value hierarchy. If a fair value
measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment, that measurement is a Level 3
measurement. The significance of a valuation input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety.

Valuation methods include net present value, discounted cash flow models, and comparisons with similar instruments
for which observable market prices exist. Assumptions and input used in valuation methods include risk-free and
benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premiums used fo estimate discount rates, bond and security rates,
and exchange rates. The objective of the valuation methods is to determine the fair value, which reflects the value of

the financial instrument at the reporting date, which could he determined by market participants who carried out the
transaction on the basis of independence.

The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models to determine the fair value of common and simpler financial
instruments, such as interest rate and currency swaps, for which only observable market data are used and no
significant judgments or estimates are required. Observable prices and input data for models typically exist on the
market in respect of quoted debt and equity securities, exchangeable quoted derivatives and simple over-the-counter
derivatives, such as interest rate swaps. The presence of observable market prices and baseline data for the model
reduces the need for management's judgments and estimates, and also reduces the uncertainty associated with
determining fair value. The presence of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on products and
markets, and varies based on certain events and the overall stale of financial markets.

Fair value of the Bank’s financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Bank’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined, in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used.
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)

Notes to the Financial Statements

27 Presentation of Financial Instruments by Measurement Category

In accordance with IFRS 9 «Financial Instruments» Bank classifies financial assets into the following categories:

(a) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; (b) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, and (c) financial assets at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all financial fiabilities of the Bank were measured at amortised cost except for
derivatives. Derivative financial instruments were measured at mandatory fair value through profit or loss.

The following table provides a reconciliation of financial assets with these measurement categories as of

31 December 2024 and 2023:

Debt instruments
measured at fair
value through

Measured at fair other
value through comprehensive Measured at

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge profit or loss income  amortised cost Total
31 December 2024
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents - - 96,974,884 96,974,884
Due from other financial institutions - - 32,122,645 32,122,645
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 28,411 - - 28,411
Loans to customers - - 525,317,980 525,317,980
Documentary setflements - - 2,646,083 2,646,093
Financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income - 242 233,341 - 242,233,341
Debt securities at amortised cost, net of

allowance for expected credit losses - - 88,006,446 88,096,446
Other financial assets - - 3,657,701 3,657,701
Total Assets 28,411 242,233,341 748,815,749 991,077,501

Debt instruments
measured at fair
value through

Measured at fair other
value through  comprehensive Measured at

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge profit or loss income  amortised cost Total
31 December 2023
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents - - 137,004,212 137,004,212
Due from other financial institutions - - 23,276,265 23,276,265
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 11,081 - - 11,081
Loans to customers - - 382,934,004 382,934,004
Documentary settlements - - 3,156,859 3,156,859
Financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income - 181,798,375 - 181,798,375
Debt securities at amortised cost, net of

allowance for expected credit losses - - 147,251,408 147,251,408
Other financial assets - - 1,821,217 1,821,217
Total Assets 11,081 181,798,375 695,443,965 877,253,421
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes to the Financial Statements

28 Capital Risk Management

The NBRK and the ARDFM set and monitor capital adequacy requirements for the Bank. The Bank is directly controlled
by local regulatory authorities.

The Bank determines as a capital those articles, that were determined in accordance with the legislation of the
Republic of Kazakhstan, that contributed the capital of the banks and the capital structure consists of:

Tier 1 capital, which is comprised of share capital and additional paid-in capital. Share capital includes placed
ordinary shares, current and prior periods’ retained earnings, additional paid-in capital, created regulatory reserves
and revaluation reserves of fixed assets and the value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income less intangible assets, losses of previous years and the current year, deferred tax asset minus deferred
tax liabilities, excluding part of deferred tax liabilities tax assets recognised for deductible temporary differences,
treasury shares, other revaluation reserves, adjustments to be deducted from the additional eapital, investments,
but due its insufficient level deductible from the share capital, the Bank's investments and sales revenue associated
with transactions for asset securitization. Additional paid-in capital includes perpetual financial instruments and
paid preference shares, net of the Bank’s own shares, certain investments and regulatory adjustments.,

Tier 2 capital is required for the purpose of calculating total capital and is comprised of subordinated debt minus
own repurchased debt and certain bank investments.

Under the current capital adequacy requirements of NBRK, the bank has to maintain:

&

a ratio of share capital to the sum of credit and risk-weighted assets and contingent liabilities and a quantitative
measure of operational risk (k1);

a ratio of tier 1 capital less investments to the sum of credit and market risk-weighted assets and contingent
liabilities and a quantitative measure of operational risk (k1.2);

a ratio of total capital to the sum of credit and market risk-weighted assets and contingent liabilities and a
guantitative measure of operational risk (k2).

As at 31 December 2024, the minimum level of ratios as applicable to the Bank were as follows:

L

k1-8%
k1.2 -9%
k2 —-10.5%.

As at 31 December 2023, the minimum level of ratios as applicable to the Bank were as follows:

ki-7.5%
k1.2-8.5%
k2 — 10%.

The Bank's policy is directed to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the business. The Bank recognizes the impact of the norms of earnings on capital,
and recognizes the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes fo the Financial Statements

28 Capital Risk Management (Continued)

The following table analyses bank’s regulatory capital resources for capital adequacy purposes in accordance with the
principles established by the Base!l agreement;

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Composition of regulatory capital:
Tier 1 capital:

Share capital 7,050,000 7,050,000
Additional paid-in capital 220,973 220,973
Retained earnings for previous periods 95,235,029 78,231,337
Revaluation reserves for property, plant and equipment, financial

assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (4,169,486) (1,589,287)
Net income 39,108,198 34,003,710
Deferred tax asset less deferred tax liabilities except deferred tax

assets, recognised in regard of non-deductible temporary

differences (1,334,746) (1,121,778)
intangible assets (1,604,829) (1,595,143)
Total regulatory capital 134,505,139 115,199,812
Capital Ratios:
Capital adequacy ratio (k1) 17.7% 21.5%
Capital adequacy ratio (k1-2) 17.7% 21.5%
Capital adequacy ratio (k2) 17.7% 21.5%
Total regulatory capital 134,505,139 115,199,812

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Bank complies with prudential standards.

29 Risk Management Policies

The Bank's risk management is carried out in respect of financial transactions. Financial risks include market risk
{consisting of currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk}, credit risk and liquidity risk. The main goal of financial
risk management is to determine the acceptable level of risk, establish limits and further ensure compliance with the

established limits. Operational risk management ensures the proper functioning of internal policies and procedures in
order to minimise these risks.

Credit risk

The Bank exposes itself to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss
for the other party by failing to meet an obligation.

Exposure to credit risk arises as a result of the Bank's lending and other transactions with counterparties, giving rise to
financial assets and off-balance sheet credit-related commitments.

The Bank's maximum exposure to credit risk is reflected in the carrying amounts of financial assets in the statement of
financial position. For financial guarantees issued, commitments fo extend credit, undrawn credit lines and
exportfimport letters of credit, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the amount of the commitment.

Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Bank's business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to
credit risk. The estimation of credit risk for risk management purposes is complex and involves the use of models, as
the risk varies depending on market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit
risk for a portfolio of assets entails further estimations of the likelihood of defaults occurring, the associated loss ratios
and default correlations between counterparties.
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes to the Financial Statements

29 Risk Management Policies {Continued)

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to
one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to geographical and industry segments. Limits on the fevel of credit risk by

product and industry sector are approved regularly by management. Such risks are monitored on a regular basis and
are subject to at list an annual review.

The Bank established a number of credit committees that are responsible for approving credit limits for borrowers for
retail and corporate business:

e The retail credit committee reviews and approves limits for borrowers in the retail business;

e The corporate credit committee reviews and approves limits on corporate business borrowers.

Loan applications originating with the relevant client relationship managers are passed on to the relevant credit
committee for the approval of the credit limit. Exposure to credit risk is also managed, in part, by obtaining collateral as
well as corporate and personal guarantees. In order to monitor exposure to credit risk, regular reports are produced by
the credit department's officers based on a siructured analysis focusing on the customer's business and financial

performance. Any significant interaction with customers with deteriorating creditworthiness are reported to and
reviewed by them.

Credit risk grading system

In order to assess credit risk and classify financial instruments by credit risk level, the Bank uses a rating system based
on the Moody's model. Internal and external credit ratings are compared on a single internal scale with a specified
range of probabhilities of default, as indicated in the tables below:

1. For corporate client without credit ratings:

Corresponding Corresponding

Corresponding
internal ratings

Corresponding ratings of

Master scale credit risk external international

probability of
default interval as
of 31 December

probability of
default interval as
of 31 December

___grade {Risc Calc) rating agencies 2024 2023
Excellent Aaa - A2 AAA - A 0% - 1%; 0% - 1%;
Good A3 -Bal A--BB- 1% - 9.8963%; 1% - 9.963%;
Satisfactory B1-83 B+-B- 9.963% -~ 21.888%; 9.963% - 21.888%;
Special monitoring Caat-C CCC+-C 21.888% - 50%; 21.888% - 50%;
Default D D 50% - 100% 50% - 100%

2. For corporate client with credit ratings:

Corresponding
internal ratings

Corresponding ratings of

Master scale credit risk external international

Corresponding
probability of
default interval as
of 31 December

Corresponding
probability of
default interval as
of 31 December

___grade (Risc Cale) rating agencies 2024 2023
Excellent Aza - A2 AAA - A 0% - 0.179%; 0% - 1%
Good A3 —Ba3 A--BB- 0,179% - 2.475%; 1% - 9.963%
Satisfactory B1-B3 B+ - B- 2.475% - 8.353%,; 9.963% - 21.888%
Special monitoring Caal-C CCC+-C 8.353% - 50%,; 21.888% - 50%
Default D (] 50% - 100% 50% - 100%

Each master scale credit risk grade is assigned a specific degree of creditworthiness:

e  Aaa-— A2 - high credit quality with low expected credit risk.
s A3 — Ba3 - sufficient credit quality with average credit risk.

¢ B1-B3 - average credit quality with satlisfactory credit risk,

e Caal - C - lending instruments that require more careful monitoring and remedial management.

» D -lending instruments that have defaulted.
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes to the Financial Statements

29 Risk Management Policies (Continued)
Each level of credit risk is assigned a certain degree of solvency on a unified scale:

*  Aaa - A3 - high credit quality with low expected credit risk.
+ Baal - B1 - sufficient credit quality with average credit risk.
o B2 - B3 - average credit quality with satisfactory credit risk.

e Caal - C3 - lending instruments that require more careful monitoring and remedial management.

¢ D —lending instruments that have defaulted.

Credit risk grading system for retail based on overdue days: excellent level — 0 overdue days, good level - 1-30 overdue
days, satisfactory level — 31-60 overdue days, special monitoring level — 61-90 overdue days, default ~ overdue 90+,

As of 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the internal rating system is developed by the Moody's rating agency.

The Bank applies an internal rating system to assess the credit risk of financial assets provided to corporate clients and
financial institutions.

External ratings are assigned to counterparties by independent international rating agencies, such as S&P, Moody’s
and Fitch. These ratings are publicly available. Such ratings and the corresponding range of probabilities of default are
applied for the following financial instruments: interbank deposits, government loans and invesiments in debt securities.

Expected credit loss is a probability - weighted estimate of the present value of future cash shortfalls (i.e., the weighted
average of credit losses, with the respective risks of default occurring in a given time period used as weights). An
expected credit loss measurement is unbiased and is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes. Expected
credit losses measurement is based on four components used by the Bank: probability of default, amount of credit
claim at risk of default, loss in case of default and discount rate.

Exposure at default (EAD) - is an estimate of exposure at a future default date, considering expected changes in the

exposure after the reporting period, including repayments of principal and interest, and expected drawdowns on
committed facilities.

The probability of default (PD) is an estimate of the likelihood of default to occur over a given time period.

Loss given default (LGD) - is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from any collateral. It is usually
expressed as a percentage of the exposure at default.

The expected losses are discounted to present value at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate represents
the effective interest rate ("EIR")} for the financial instrument or an approximation thereof.

Management's estimate of expected credit losses for the preparation of financial statements is based on point-in-time
estimates rather than through-the-cycle estimates. The Bank assesses the impact of changes in key macroeconomic
indicators on ECL by conducting a regression analysis.
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes to the Financial Statements

29 Risk Management Policies (Continued)

The ECL modelling does not differ for Purchased or Originated Credit impaired (“POCI"} financial assets, except that
(a) gross carrying value and discount rate are based on cash flows that were recoverable at initial recognition of the
asset, rather than based on contractual cash flows, and (b) the ECL is always a lifetime ECL. Purchased or originated

credit impaired assets are financial assets that are credit-impaired upon initial recognition, such as impaired loans
acquired in a past business combination.

For purposes of measuring probability of default, the Bank defines defauit as a situation when the exposure meets one
or more of the following criteria:

» the presence of overdue debt for a period of more than 90 (ninety} days on loans assessed on a collective basis,
over 80 (sixty) days on loans assessed on an individual basis;

s the presence of overdue debt for a period of more than 90 (ninety) days on loans from other banks, as an indicator
of a deterioration in the financial condition of the borrower;

e writing off part and (or) the entire amount of the borrower's debt, which is caused by a significant increase in credit
risk from the moment the loan was issued:

e sale of loans at a significant discount {more than 50%);
o forced loan restructuring;
¢ suspension of the accrual of interest on the loan due to the deterioration of the financial condition of the borrower:

= filing a claim to declare the borrower bankrupt in accordance with the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan *On
Rehabilitation and Bankruptcy”;

» the borrower's application to the court to declare him bankrupt in accordance with the Law of the Republic of
Kazakhstan "On Rehabilitation and Bankruptcy”;

o assignment of an internal credit rating corresponding to the default category;
= assignment to the counterparty of an extemal rating corresponding to the default category;

»  high probability of bankruptcy or other kind of financial reorganization, as well as involvement in legal proceedings
of the borrower (co-borrower), which may worsen its financial condition;

o significant changes in external market indicators of credit risk for a parficular financial asset or similar financial
assets with the same expected life;

+  recognition by the authorized body of the Bank of default on the loanfloans of the borrower.

For purposes of disclosure, the Bank fully aligned the definition of default with the definition of credit-impaired assets.
The default definition stated above is applied to all types of financial assets of the Bank.

The assessment whether or not there has been a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) since initial recognition is
performed on an individual basis and on a portfolio basis. For loans issued to corporate entities, interbank loans and
debt securities at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, significant increase in credit risk
is assessed on an individual basis by monitoring the triggers stated below. For loans issued to individuals significant
increase in credit risk is assessed either on a portfolio basis or an individual basis. The criteria used to identify a

significant increase in credit risk are monitored and reviewed periodically for appropriateness by the Bank's Risk
Management Department.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

29 Risk Management Policies {Continued)

The bank considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when one or more
of the following quantitative, qualitative or backstop criteria have been met.

= the presence of overdue payments (overdue debts of the borrower on the principal debt andfor remuneration andfor
penalties as of the Bank's valuation date) for a period of 30 (thirty) calendar days or more, or, during the previous
twelve months, the payments to the Bank were delayed a term of thirty or more calendar days;

» actual or expected (based on reasonable and corroborated information) increase in the probability of default on a
borrower/group of borrowers, associated with a downgrade of the rating by 5 notches or assignment of a rating
corresponding to the default since the issuance of the loan;

¢ the borrower requests debt restructuring to the Bank (unforced restructuring);

¢  violation of financial covenants established in the loan agreement and/or other essential lending terms not agreed
with the Bank, which, in the Bank’s opinion, may lead to the borrower's failure to fulfill its obligations to the
Bank/incurring losses for the Bank or are indicators of such an outcome;

e negative news related to the counterparty, such as: deterioration in financial condition, deterioration in the
competitive position in its industry;

¢ systematic violation of prudential standards established by the regulator for consecutive 6 months in cases where
the counterparty is a credit institution and violation of legal requirements;

e the presence of force majeure, as well as other circumstances that caused material damage to the borrower {co-
borrower) but did not lead {o the termination of its activities:

» significant changes in the value of the collateral for an obligation or the quality of guarantees or arrangements that
provide an economic incentive for the counterparty to make contractual scheduled payments that are expected to

reduce the counterparty’s economic incentive to make confractual scheduled payments or otherwise affect the
probability of default;

¢ Change in Probability of Default (PD): At the reporting date, the probability of default over the life of the loan
exceeds the same indicator at initial recognition by more than 200%.

The level of expected credit losses that is recognised in these financial statements depends on whether the credit risk
of the borrower has increased significantly since initial recognition. This is a three-stage model for expected credit
losses measurement. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition and its credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition has a credit loss allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses
(Stage 1). If a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to
Stage 2 but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired and the loss allowance is based on lifetime expected credit losses.
If a financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is moved to Stage 3 and loss allowance is based on
lifetime expected credit losses. The consequence of an asset being in Stage 3 is that the entity ceases to recognise
interest income based on gross carrying value and applies the asset's effective interest rate to the carrying amount,
net of expected credit losses, when calculating interest income.

If there is evidence that the significant increase in credit risk criteria are no longer met, the instrument is transferred
back to Stage 1. If an exposure has been transferred to Stage 2 based on a qualitative indicator, the Bank monitors
whether that indicator continues to exist or has changed. On a monthly basis, the risk management unit collects
information that may lead to believe that the loan has experienced a significant increase in credit risk.

The Bank has three approaches to assessing expected credit losses: (i) assessment on an individual basis using
internal ratings, (ii) assessment on a portfolio basis; (jii) assessment based on external ratings. The Bank conducts an
assessment on an individual basis using internat ratings for corporate clients that do not have external ratings. The
Bank conducts portfolio valuation for loans fo individuals. This approach involves portfolio aggregation into

homogeneous segments based on specific information about borrowers and / or a financial instrument, for example, a
loan product, a loan program.

The Bank performs assessments based on external ratings for interbank loans, debt securities issued by the banks
and certain blue chip corporate customers, and loans issued to sovereigns.

Expected credit losses assessment on an individual basis is performed by weighting the estimates of credit losses for
different possible outcomes against the probabilities of each outcome. The Bank defines at least two possible outcomes
for each assessed loan, one of which leads to a credit loss even if the probability of such a scenario may be very low.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

29 Risk Management Policies (Continued)

When assessment is performed on a portfolio basis, the bank determines the staging of the exposures and measures
the loss allowance on a collective basis. The bank analyses its exposures by segments determined on the basis of
shared credit risk characteristics, such that exposures within a group have homogeneous or similar risks. The key
shared credit characteristics considered are: type of product, lending program. Homogeneous loans include loans to

individuals for which the amount of debt is equal to or less than 0.2% of the Bank's equity on the date of the reserves
calculation.

The expected credit loss (ECL) model is used, which requires the recognition of loss reserves from the initial recognition
of a financial instrument. Asset grouping — financial instruments are combined into portfolios based on similar risk
characteristics to more accurately predict potential losses. Monitoring and review — regular updating of risk
assessments based on available information and macroeconomic forecasts. Depending on the change in the credit
quality of an asset, the expected losses are assessed in one of three stages. In portfolio-based risk management, the
Bank applies portfolio segmentation — division of assets by credit risk level, maturity, product and other parameters.

Modeling of various macroeconomic scenarios to assess the sensitivity of the portfolio to changes in market conditions
as part of the PD calculation.

FRS @ requires taking into account macroeconomic variables when calculating credit loss reserves. The Bank uses

statistical models that include indicators such as the base rate, inflation rate, unemployment rate, Brent oi! price, and
changes in the USD/KZT exchange rate,

A collective risk management policy allows for the timely identification of potential losses, minimization of risks and
maintenance of the stability of the financial system.

In general, expected credit loss is the sum of the multiplications of the following credit risk parameters: exposure at
default, probability of default and loss given default, that are defined as explained above, and discounted to present
value using the instrument's effective interest rate. The expected credit loss is determined by predicting credit risk
parameters (exposure at default, probability of default and loss given default) for each future monthiyear during the
lifetime period for each individual exposure or collective segment. These three components are multiplied together and
adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure has been repaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively
calculates an expected credit loss for each future period, that is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed

up. The discount rate used in the expected credit losses calculation is the original effective interest rate or an
approximation thereof,

The key principles of calculating the credit risk parameters

The exposures at default are determined based on the expected payment profile. Exposure at default is based on the
contractual repayments owed by the borrower over a 12-month or lifetime basis for amortizing products and bullet
repayment loans. For revolving products, the exposure at default is predicted by taking the current drawn balance and
adding a "credit conversion factor" that accounts for the expected drawdown of the remaining limit by the time of default.
These assumptions vary by product type, current limit utilization and other borrower-specific behavioral characteristics.

Two types of probabilities of default are used for calculating expected credit losses: 12-month and lifetime probability
of default. An assessment of a 12-month probability of default is based on the latest available historic default data for
retail and Moody's for corporate loans and adjusted for information when appropriate. Lifetime probabilities at default
represent the estimated probability of a2 default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument and it is a
sum of the 12 months probabilities of default over the life of the instrument. For calculation of lifetime the probability of

default, the Bank uses statistical methods, such as calculating the probability of default based on the binomial
distribution.

Loss given default represents the bank's expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. Loss given default
varies by the type of counterparty, type and seniority of the claim, and the availability of collateral or other credit support.

The 12-month and lifetime loss given default are determined based on the factors that impact the expected recoveries
after a default event.

The Bank calculates loss given default based on specific characteristics of the collateral, such as projected collateral
values, historical discounts on sales and other factors for loans secured by real estate, cash and liquid securities. Loss
given default is calculated on a collective basis based on the latest available recovery statistics for the remainder of the
corporate loan porifolio and for retail secured and unsecured products.

Expected credit losses measurement for financial guarantees and loan commitments
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29 Risk Management Policies {Continued)

The expected credit losses measurement for these instruments includes the same steps as described above for on-
balance sheet exposures and differs with respect to exposure at default calculation. The exposure at default is a product
of credit conversion factor ("CCF") and amount of the commitment. Credit conversion factor for undrawn credit lines of

corporate custorners, credit cards issued to individuals and for financial guarantees is defined based on statistical
analysis of past exposures at default.

The Bank does not create reserves of expected credit losses on unused credit lines, as the Bank’s loan agreements
either do not have obligations to automatically provide cash, or such loans are made as an individual analysis of a
client's request. Whenever the Bank receives a client’s request for a new loan tranche under unused credit lines, it is
considered on an individual and independent basis each time. The procedure for issuing new tranches includes
checking the current financial situation of the client and approval by the Bank's credit risk management unit. Since the
Bank has the right to refuse to apply for new tranches without justifying the reasons for the refusal, the Bank considers
that the issue of new tranches on loans as part of its obligations is debatable, and considers expected credit losses
only after the funds are fransferred to the borrower.

The above process does not apply to credit card lines of credit. This product has a completely different nature. A credit
card limit approved by the Bank can be used by a client at any time. In this regard, the Bank calculates the level of
possible development of the unused portion of credit lines on credit cards, based on available historical data, and
calculates the reserve of expected credit losses on this portion of unused credit lines on credit cards.

Principles of assessment based on external ratings

Certain exposures have external credit risk ratings and these are used to estimate credit risk parameters “probability
of default” and "loss given default” from the default and recovery statistics published by the respective rating agencies.
This approach is applied to government and large corporate clients, as well as interbank loans and deposits.

Market risk

The Bank takes on exposure to market risks. Market risks arise from open positions in (2) currency, (b} interest rates
and (c) equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements. Management sets limits
on the vaiue of risk that may be accepted, which is monitored on a daily basis. However, the use of this approach does
not prevent losses outside of these limits in the event of more significant market movements.

Currency risk

In respect of currency risk, management sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total for both overnight
and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.

The Bank has an Asset and Liability Management Committee, which, on a regular basis, receives information from the
risk management division on market risks, on meeting the established limits.

Risk assessment is carried out using the VAR (Value at Risk) method, which allows to estimate the maximum possible
{with a specified confidence interval) negative impact on the financial result of changes in the value of currency
positions. VAR-assessment is carried out by the method of historical modelling, the depth of the two years (500
business days), a time horizon of one business day and a confidence interval of 99%. Expected Shortfall (ES) is derived
from the VAR model. Unlike VAR, it gives an estimate of the expected scale of losses in critical scenarios, since allows
you to estimate the possible losses in excess of the predicted value of VAR.

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Evaluation of the maximurmn possible losses

VAR for currency position 141 2,960
ES for currency position 9,697 7,849

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument wilf fluctuate due to changes in currency exchange rates.
The financial position and cash flows of the Bank are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.
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JSC "Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes to the Financial Statements

29 Risk Management Policies (Continued)

Currency risk sensitivity analysis

The table below presents data on the Banlk's sensitivity to an increase or decrease in the tenge rate by 10% in relation
to the respective currencies. The sensitivity analysis of positions expressed in foreign currency adjusts the recalculation
of balances at the reporting date, subject to a 10% change in exchange rates. The positive amount indicated below
reflects the increase in profits when the tenge appreciates against the corresponding currency by 10%. A 10%

weakening of the tenge against the corresponding currency will have a comparable impact on profits, with the amounts
indicated below being negative.

U.S. Dollar Euro Yuan
31 31 31 kY|
December 31 December December December 31 December December
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Impact on profit before tax 72,383 500,714 4,014 32,308 5,032 1,954
Impact on capital 57,807 400,571 3,211 25,846 4,026 1,563

Foreign exchange forward confracts

Part of the Bank's policy is the conclusion of forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the risks of customer
transactions.

Limitations of sensitivity analysis

The above tables show the effect of a change based on the main assumption with other assumptions unchanged. In
fact, there is a relationship between assumptions and other factors. It should also be noted that the sensitivity is non-
linear, therefore no interpolation or extrapolation of the results should be performed.

The sensitivity analysis does not consider that the Bank actively manages its assets and liabilities. In addition, the
financial position of the Bank may be subject to change depending on changes occurring in the market. For example,
the Bank'’s financial risk management sirategy focuses on managing market volatility risk. In the event of sharp negative
price fluctuations in the securities market, management may turn to such methods as selling investments, changing
the composition of the investment portfolio, as well as other methods of protection. Consequently, a change in the
assumptions may not have an impact on liabilities and significantly affect assets recorded at market price in the
statement of financial position. In this situation, different methods of valuing assets and labilities can lead to significant
fluctuations in the value of equity.

Other limitations in the above sensitivity analysis include the use of hypothetical movements in the market in order to
disclose potential risks, which represent only the Bank's forecast of upcoming market changes that cannot be predicted
with any degree of certainty. Also a limitation is the assumption that all interest rates vary in an identical way.

Interest risk

The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial
position and cash flows. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes, but may reduce or create losses

in the event that unexpected movements arise. Management monitors on a regular basis and sets limits on the level of
mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken.

59



JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)

Notes to the Financial Statements

29 Risk Management Policies (Continued)

The table below summarises the Bank's exposure to interest rate risks. The table presents the aggregated amounts of
the Bank's financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual interest repricing

or maturity dates:

Demand and

less than From1to From 6 fo More than

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 1 month 6 months 12 months 1 year Total
31 December 2024
Total financial assets 162,475,804 86,792 115 149,383,885 582,366,230 881,018,034
Total financial liabilities 289,934 417 192,379,627 105,417,600 39,996,315 627,727,959
Net interest rate gap on

31 December 2024 (137,458,613) {95,587,512) 43,966,285 542,369,915 353,290,075
31 December 2023
Tofal financial assefs 198,369,256 104,428,877 131,288,141 434,446,688 868,532,962
Total financial liabilities 254,302,361 88,774,258 98,928,561 61,729,450 503,734,630
Net interest rate gap on

31 December 2023 {55,933,105) 15,654,619 32,359,580 372,717,238 364,798,332

For analysis of the Bank's portfolic sensitivity to interest rate risk, DVBP (Dollar Value of Basis Point) is used - change
in the value of the portfolio with a paralle! change in the interest rate by + 0.01% or one basis point. This method of
sensitivity analysis is one of the most common methods in market risk management, since it rather transparently shows
the effect on portfolio returns (through calculating changes in the present value of a portfolio) from a slight movement
of interest rates. Securities valued at fair value through other comprehensive income fall into the calculation of
DVBFP Bank. If rates had changed by 0.01% or one basis point, while maintaining all other variables at the same level,
then the value of securities valued at fair value through other comprehensive income would have changed by Tenge

81,002 thousand (2023: Tenge 27,188 thousand).

The table below shows the average interest rates:

2024 2023
Foreign Foreign

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Tenge currency Tenge currency
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 6.40% 0.00% 7.06% 1.53%
Due from other financial institutions 0.15% 0.37% 11.36% 8.47%
Loans to customers 17.40% 6.05% 18.18% 6.63%
Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income 8.73% 4.77% 11.96% 4.54%
Debt securities measured at amortised cost less

reserves for expected credit losses 12.11% 5.11% 11.25% 4.42%
Liabilities:
Due to other financial institutions 0.11% 0.00% 11.67% 0.00%
Repurchase agreements accounts payable 15.18% 5.40% 15.82% 0.00%
Current accounts and customer deposits 11.45% 0.78% 10.00% 0.43%

Foreign currency includes US dollars, Euros, Chinese yuan and Russian rubles.
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes to the Financial Statements

29 Risk Management Policies (Continued)

Geographic concentration

The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (“ALMC") controls the risk associated with changes in the economic

situation of other countries. This approach allows the Bank to minimise potential losses from investments in foreign
assets.

The geographical concentration of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities is set out below;

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Kazakhstan Other countries Total
31 December 2024
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 31,882,005 46,613,321 78,495,326
Mandatory cash balances with the National

Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan 18,479,556 - 18,479,556
Debt securities measured at fair value through

other cornprehensive income 234,610,493 7,622,848 242,233,341
Due from other banks 6,443,233 25,679,412 32,122,645
Loans to customers 493,084,833 32,233,147 525,317,980
Documentary setflements 2,646,093 - 2,646,093
Debt securities measured at amortized cost

less provisions for expected credit losses 88,096,446 - 88,096,446
Other financial assets 3,563,183 94,518 3,657,701
Total non-derivative financial assets 878,805,842 112,243,246 991,049,088
Deposits and balances of other banks 916,938 5,447 306 6,364,242
Repurchase agreements 23,221,898 9,586,554 32,808,452
Current accounts and customer deposits 668,510,439 132,899,422 801,409,861
Other financial liahilities 18,183,821 257,891 18,441,712
Total non-derivative financial liabilities 710,833,084 148,191,173 859,024,267
Net position for non-derivative financial

instruments 167,972,748 (35,947,927 132,024,821
With gross calculations
- Foreign exchange spot contracts (55,966) - (55,966)
Inflows 2,974,320 - 2,974,320
Outflows (3,030,286) - (3,030,286)
- Currency swap contracts 5,035 {2,596} 2,439
inflows 4,993 580 5,507,661 10,501,241
Outflows (4,988,545) (5,510,257) (10,498,802)
Net position for derivative financial

instruments (50,931) (2,596) {53,527)
Net position 167,921,817 {35,950,523) 131,971,204
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Notes to the Financial Statements

28 Risk Management Policies (Continued)

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Kazakhstan Other countries Total
31 December 2023
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 82,422 516 38,885,700 121,308,225
Mandatory cash balances with the Nationai

Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan 15,695,987 - 15,695,987
Debt securities measured at fair value through

other comprehensive income 174,480,946 7,317,429 181,798,375
Due from other banks 4,503,641 18,772,624 23,276,265
Loans to customers 378,711,687 4,222 317 382,934,004
Documentary settlements 3,156,859 - 3,156,859
Debt securities measured at amortized cost

less provisions for expected credit losses 147,251,408 - 147,251,408
Other financial assets 1,540,037 281,180 1,821,217
Total non-derivative financial assets 807,763,081 69,479,259 877,242,340
Deposits and balances of other banks 4,716,271 983,340 5,699,611
Repurchase agreements 66,216,338 - 66,216,338
Current accounts and customer deposiis 503,591,718 82,782,228 676,373,946
Other financial liabilities 15,353,012 191,414 15,544,426
Total non-derivative financial liabilities 679,877,339 83,956,982 763,834,321
Net position for non-derivative financial

instruments 127,885,742 (14,477,723} 113,408,019
With gross calculations
- Foreign exchange spot contracts 2,185 - 2,185
Inflows 6,136,560 “ 6,136,560
Outflows (6,134,375) - (6,134,375)
- Currency swap contracts - 617 617
inflows - 1,312,440 1,312,440
Cutflows - {1,311,823) (1,311,823)
Net position for derivative financial

instruments 2,185 617 2,802
Net position 127,887,927 {14,477,106) 113,410,821

The geographical concentration of assets and liabilities for other countries primarily includes assets and liabilities for
custemers in the People's Republic of China,

Liguidity risk

Ligquidity risk is the risk that the Bank may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.
Liquidity risk arises when the maturities of assets and liabilities do not match. Coincidence andfor controlled
discrepancy in terms of malturity and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to liguidity risk management.
Due to the diversily of operations and asscciated uncertainty, a full match in maturity of assets and liabilities is not

commeon practice for financial institutions, which makes it possible to increase the profitability of operations, however,
and increases the risk of losses.

The Bank maintains the necessary level of liquidity in order to ensure the continuous availability of funds necessary to

fulfil ali obligations as they mature. The Bank’s liquidity management policy is reviewed and approved by the
Management Board, ALMC and Board of Directors.

The Bank seeks to actively maintain a diversified and stable structure of sources of financing consisting of shori-term
deposits of banks, deposits of major corporate customers and individuals, as well as a diversified portfolio of highly
liquid assets so that the Bank is able to react quickly and without sharp fluctuations to unforeseen liquidity requirements.
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation l.td.)
Notes to the Financial Statements

29 Risk Management Policies (Continued)

The Bank’s liquidity management policy consists of:

= forecasting cash flows by major currencies and calculations related to these cash flows of the required level of
liquid assets;

= maintaining a diversified structure of sources of financing;

+  management of the concentration and structure of borrowed funds;

e developing plans for raising funds from borrowed funds;

* maintaining a portfolio of highly liquid assets that can be freely implemented as a protective measure in case of a
lack of liquidity;

¢ developing reserve plans to maintain liquidity and a given level of funding;

o monitoring compliance of the Bank's liquidity indicators with statutory ratios.

The Treasury Department monitors liquidity positions on a daily basis, and the Financial Risk and Portfolio Analysis
Department conducts stress tests on a regular basis, taking into account various possible market scenarios, both in
normal and in unfavourable conditions. Under normal market conditions, liquidity reports are provided to senior
management on a monthly basis. Decisions on the liquidity management policy are made by the ALMC and executed
by the relevant business and/or auxiliary depariments, and monitored by the ALMC.

The Bank analyzes the leve! of liquid assets required to meet obligations as they mature, ensure access to various

sources of funding, have plans in place to deal with funding problems, and monitor compliance with liquidity ratios in
accordance with legal requirements.

Liquidity ratios are calculated monthly in accordance with the requirements of the NBRK and the ARDFM. Key indicators
include:

Short-term liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) — the ratio of the liquidity buffer to the expected nef cash outflow within 30
days under adverse conditions. As of 31 December 2024, the indicator value was 1.695 (2023: 1.817).

Net stable funding ratio (NSFR) is the ratio of available stable funding to the amount of required stable funding. As of
31 December 2024, this ratio was 1.190 (2023: 1.270).
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes to the Financial Statements

29 Risk Management Policies {Continued)

Collateral

The amount and type of collateral required depends on the assessment of the counterparty’s credit risk.
Recommendations on the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters are also being implemented.

The main lypes of collateral obtained are as follows:

« For securities and reverse repurchase transactions, cash or securities;
*  For commercial lending, incumburance over movable and immovable properties;

»  For retail lending, mortgages over residential properties,

During 2024 and 2023, the Bank had no pledges accepted on the Bank’s balance sheet, and there were no pledges
carried over from previous years on the balance sheet,

The Bank has developed a methodology for determining the credit rating of borrowers in order to assess corporate
borrowers. This methodology allows you to calculate and assign/confirm the borrower’s rating and loan collateral rating.
This system is based on a quantitative assessment model depending on the key performance indicators of the borrower
and allows for the possibility of a minor expert correction in case of insufficient objectivity of the comparative analysis.
This method allows you to assign ratings based on the following groups of criteria: market indicators of the borrower,
goodwill, credit history, transparency and refiability of information, information on operating activities and the economic
situation, the relationship of the Bank and the borrower, the financial position of the borrower, economic activities and
the collateral provided. The most important criteria are the financial position and type of activity of the borrower.
Consequently, the quantification maodel allows for a general assessment of the borrower and the loan.

The borrower's qualitative assessment model was developed by the Bank to assess and make decisions on granting
loans to small and medium-sized businesses. The valuation model is designed for standard credit products and includes

key indicators: financial position, relationship with the borrower, quality of management, targeted use, location, credit
history, loan security, etc.

Qualitative assessment based on the parameters of the borrower is one of the main factors for the decision-making
process on granting a loan.

The methodology for assessing individual borrowers is based on the following criteria; education, scope, financial

position, credit history, property owned by the borrower. Based on the information received, the maximum loan amount
is calculated. The maximum loan size is calculated using the debt pressure ratio of the borrower.

The Bank applies an internal methodology in relation to certain corporate loans and Bank Retail loans. The quality
assessment methodology is specifically designed for specific products and is applied at different stages of the credit
life cycle. As a result, it is not possible to make a qualitative comparison of various products that would correspond to

the outstanding debt on loans to customers in the statement of financial position. In this regard, more detailed
information is not provided.

Financial assets other than loans provided to customers are classified based on current credit ratings assigned by
internationally recognised rating agencies such as Fitch, Standard & Poors, and Moody's. The highest possible rating
is AAA. The investment level of financial assets corresponds to ratings from AAA to BBB, Financial assets with a rating
lower than BBB are classified as speculative.

Banking sector organisations are generally exposed to credit risk arising from loans provided by the Bank and interbank
deposits. The Bank's credit risk for loans to customers is concentrated in the country. The leve! of credit risk is subject

to continuous monitoring in order to ensure compliance with the limits on loans in accordance with the risk management
policy approved by the Bank.
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes to the Financial Statements

29 Risk Management Policies (Continued)
Financing instruments

Market risk

Market risk refers to the risk of deterioration of the financial result of the Bank due to adverse changes in the value of
assets / liabilities (contingencies/commitments) of the Bank due to the influence of market indicators - risk factors (such

as foreign exchange rates, market interest rates, credit spreads, prices of goods, etc.) as well as due to changes in the
volatility of these indicators and correlations between them.

In determining the market risk, the Bank includes the following risks:

» currency risk - the risk of losses associated with adverse changes in foreign exchange rates or prices for refined
precicus metals when the Bank conducts its business;

+ interest rate risk - the likelthood of financial losses due to adverse changes in market interest rates on assets,
liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments;

e price risk - the likelihood of financial losses due to adverse changes in the market value of financial instruments,
goods.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss due to system malfunction, employee error, fraud, as well as the result of external
events. If it is impossible to manage operational risks, the presence of such risks may damage the Bank's reputation,
lead to legislative and regulatory consequences, or cause a financial loss o the Bank. It is assumed that the Bank is
not able to eliminate all operational risks, but it seeks to manage such risks by applying a control system, as well as by
monitoring and responding to possible risks. Monitoring activities include effective segregation of duties, access
granting, authorization and reconciliation, staff training and assessment procedures.

Sanctions risk

In its activities, the Bank strictly complies with the requirements of the legisiation of the Republic of Kazakhstan on
combating the legalization {laundering) of proceeds from crime and the financing of terrorism (hereinafter referred to
as AML/CFT) and the requirements of international economic sanctions, Before establishing business relationships
with clients, the Bank carries out due diligence on clients (their representatives) and requests the necessary documents
and information. According to the Bank's GND, the Bank does not establish business relationships and does not open
bank accounts for persons on the Sanctions lists. Sanctions lists according to the Bank's GND - List of AFM, List of
FROM, List of those involved in terrorist activities, List of risky persons for second-tier banks, posted on the AFM
Internet resource, List of persons with dubious business reputation, posted on the NBRK web portal, OFAC Lists, FATF
{Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering), the UN, the European Union, the Bank's internal Stop-list, the

SRC List of Sham Enterprises, as well as the presence of negative information identified by the Bank's Security
Department and in the World Check database.

The Bank has also developed Rules in order to build an effective system for monitoring and controlling the Bank's
compliance with international economic sanctions and implementing measures to combat the legalization {(laundering)
of proceeds from crime, the financing of terrorism, and the financing of the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction.
In order to check ciients and transaction participants for sanctions lists online, the Bank uses an automated AML
System. During the online registration process, potential clients are checked against sanctions lists using the World
Check database and internai Kazakhstan lists. The AML system contains a module for checking the Bank’s client base
against sanctions lists on a daily basis when data in the client card changes, or when data in directories is updated.
Verification of transactions involving transfers of clients to sanctions lists is also carried out online. The patrticipants in
the transaction, as well as the recipient's bank and the sender's bank, are verified. In order to avoid sanctions risks, the
Bank has the right to refuse to carry out a client's transaction if such refusal is due to international economic sanctions.
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)

Notes to the Financial Statemenis

30 Related Party Transactions

Details of transactions between the Bank and related parties are disclosed below;

31 December 2024

31 December 2023

Total Total

category as category as

per the per the

financial financial

Related party statements  Related party statements

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge balances caption balances caption

Cash and cash equivalents 8,142,317 96,974,884 7,336,412 137,004,212
- entities with joint control or significant influence over

the Bank (contractual interest rate: 0%) 1,928,586 - 2,602,095 -
- the parent (contractual interest rate: 0%) 6,213,731 - 4,734,317 -
- other related parties (contractual interest rate: 0%) - -
Due from other financial institutions{contractuat

interest rate: 0%) - 32,122,645 1,550,000 23,276,265
- other related parties{contractual interest rate: 0%) - - 1,550,000 -
Loans to customers 5,156 525,317,980 975,827 382,934,004
- parties having joint control or influence over the Bank

(contractual interest rate; 11.5-17%) - - 967,989 -
- key management personnel of the entity or the

parent company (contractual interest rate:

21.25 - 36%) 5,156 - 7,838 -
- other related parties (contractual interest rate:

14 — 30%) - - - -
Other assets 373,183 4,554,899 752,755 2,603,018
- parties having joint control or influence cver the Bank

{contractual interest rate: 0%) 373,183 - 448,248 -
- other related parties {contractual interest rate: 0%) - - 304,507 -
Due to other banks 34,379 6,364,242 33,994 5,609,611
- parties having joint control or influence over the Bank

(contractual interest rate: (%) 34,379 - 33,994
Current accounts and deposits from customers 1,699,237 801,409,862 8,468,884 676,373,946
- other related parties(negotiated interest rate:

0—14,5%) - - 469,540 -
- key management persennel of the entity or the

parent company (negotiated interest rate:

0 - 14.9%} 1,699,237 - 5,354,639 -
- parties with joint contro! or influence over the Bank

(contractual interest rate: 0 - 6%) - - 2,610,711 -
-parent company (negotiated interest rate:

0-3.25%) - - 33,994 -
Other liabitities 6,730 22 986,529 39,002 21,294,681
- entities with joint control or significant influence over

the Bank(contractual interest rate: 0%) 8,730 - 20,788 -
- other related parties{contractual interest rate: 0%) - - 18,213 -
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JSC “Altyn Bank” (SB of China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.)
Notes to the Financial Statements

30 Related party transactions {Continued)

The income and expense items with related parties for 2024 and 2023 were as follows:;

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Total Total
category as category as
per the per the
financiat financial
Related party statements Related party statements
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge transactions caption transactions caption
Interest income 196 107,264,007 147,110 93,948,727
- entities with joint controf or significant influence over
the Bank - - 146,469 -
- key management personnel of the entity or its parent 196 - - -
- other related paries G641 -
Interest expense (92,874) {50,995,857) (99,554) (44,022,862)
- othier related parties - - (17,798) -
- key management personnel of the entity or its parent (92,874) - (81,756) -
- the parent company - -
Fee and commission income - 4 980 948 2,633 5,632,351
- the parent company - - 2,633 -
- entities with joint control or significant influence over
the Bank - - -
Fee and commission expense - (4,232,509) (190,964) (4,977,380)
- other related parties - - (190,964)
Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss 329,268 (496,306) 991,859 (736,765)
- the parent company 53,507 - 13,988 -
- other related parties 976,779 -
- entities with joint control or significant influence over
the Bank 275,761 - 1,092 -
Foreign exchange translation {loss)/gain 448,324 7,651,985 {11,438} 8,772,927
- entities with joint contro] or significant influence over
the Bank 446,324 - (12,312) -
- other related parties - - 1,014 -
- the parent company - - (140) -
Operating expenses (88,446} (17,3986,066) (227,920) (15,733,374)
- entities with joint control or significant influence over
the Bank (88,446) - (226,057) -
- other related parties - - {1,863) -
The remuneration of Board and Bank's management was as follows:
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Total Total
category as category as
per the per the
financial financial
Related party statements Related party statements
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge transactions caption transactions caption
Key management personnel compensation 1,655,360 11,476,063 1,978,158 10,168,391

As at 31 December 2024, remuneration obligations to the Board of Directors and management of the Bank amounted

to Tenge 1,620,201 thousand (2023; Tenge 1,919,003 thousand).
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31 Segment Analysis

The Bank discloses information to enable users of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects
of the business activities in which it engages and the economic environments in which it operates. This matter is

regulated by IFRS 8 “Operafing segments”and other standards that require special disclosures in the form of segmental
reporting.

IFRS 8 defines an operating segment as follows. An operating segment is a component of an entity:

o That engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and
expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity);

+  Whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions
about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and

¢  For which discrete financial information is available.
The Bank’s reportable segments under IFRS 8 are therefore as follows:

¢ Retail banking

e  Corporate banking;

e  Treasury.

The following segment information is presented on the basis of financial information used by the Management Board

of the Bank, which is the Bank’s operating decision maker, to evaluate indicators in accordance with IFRS 8. The Bank’s

management reviews financial information for each of the segments, including the assessment of operating resuits,
assets and liabilities.

The table below sets forth segment information by reportable segment for the year ended 31 December 2024:
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31 Segment Analysis (Continued)

Retail
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge banking  Corporate banking Treasury Total
Cash and cash equivalents 2,172,262 - 76,323,065 78,495,327
Mandatory cash balances with NBRK - - 18,479,556 18,479,556
Due from other financial institutions - - 32,122,645 32,122,645
Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss - - 28,411 28.411
Loans and advances to customers 347,971,609 177,346,371 - 525,317,980
Documentary settlements - 2,646,093 - 2,646,093
Debt securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income - - 242,233,341 242 233,341
DCebt securities at amortised cost - - 88,096,446 88,096,446
Total segment assets 350,143,871 179,992,464 457,283,464 987,419,799
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or foss - - 81,578 81,578
Due to other financial institutions - - 6,364,242 6,364,242
Current accounts and deposits from
customers 362,469,474 438,940,388 - 801,409,862
Repurchase agreements - - 32,808,452 32,808,452
Provision for credit related commitments - 1,210,044 - 1,210,044
Total segment liabilities 362,469,474 440,150,432 39,254,272 841,874,178
Capital expenditure 1,626,623
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31 Segment Analysis {Continued)

The table below sets forth segment information by reportable segment for the year ended 31 December 2023:

Retail
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge banking  Corporate banking Treasury Total
Cash and cash equivalents 2,176,302 - 119,131,923 121,308,225
Mandatory cash balances with NBRK - - 15,695,987 15,695,987
Due from other financial institutions - - 23,276,265 23,276,265
Financial assets at fair value threugh profit or
loss - - 11,081 11,081
Loans and advances to customers 228,205,392 154,728,612 - 382,934,004
Documentary settlements - 3,156,859 - 3,156,859
Debt securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income - - 181,798,375 181,798,375
Debt securities at amortised cost - - 147,251,408 147,251,408
Total segment assets 230,381,694 157,885,471 487,165,039 875,432,204
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss - - 8,280 8,280
Due to other financial institutions - 5,699,611 - 5,699,611
Current accounts and deposits from
customers 328,878,424 347,495,522 - 676,373,946
Repurchase agreements - - 66,218,338 66,216,338
Provision for credit related commitments - 1,129,154 - 1,129,154
Total segment liabilities 328,878,424 354,324,287 66,224,618 749,427,328
Capital expenditure 954,777
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31 Segment Analysis (Continued)

Segment information for 2024 is as follows:

Retail Corporate

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge banking banking Treasury Total
Continuing operations
interest income calculated using the effective

interest rate method 9,869,395 2,228,136 95,166,476 107,264,007
Interest and other expenses 13,672,021 - (64,667,878) (50,995,857)
Net interest income 23,541,416 2,228,136 30,498,598 56,268,150
Fee and cornmission income 2,539,143 2,041,805 - 4,980,948
Fee and commission expense (3,828,932) (277,851) (125,726) (4,232,509)
Net fee and commission income {889,789) 1,763,954 (125,726) 748,439
Net gain on dealing operations 929,005 5,857,938 1,280,837 8,067,780
Other operating income - - 340,569 340,569
Other non interest income 929,005 5,857,938 1,621,406 8,408,349
General and administrative expenses:
Provision charge on interest bearing assets and

contingent liabilities (8,798,813) 1,719,699 2,275,052 (4,804,062)
Payroll expenses and bonuses {7,194,240) (2,983,821) (1,550,963) (11,729,024)
Expenses on intangible assets {1,269,234) (260,302) (160,482) (1,690,018}
The cost of maintaining buildings/ facilities (500,012) (153,235) (86,910 (740,157)
Other administrative expenses (590,023) (293,398) (300,208) (1,183,629}
Advertising expenses (198,173) {185,117} (183,828) {567,116)
Other operating expenses (832,732) {382,908) {270,482) (1,486,122)
Profit before income tax 4,197,405 7,310,946 31,716,459 43,224,810
Income tax expense (399,749) (6986,274) {3,020,589) (4,116,612)
Net profit for the year 3,797,656 6,614,672 28,695,870 39,108,198
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31 Segment Analysis (Continued)

Segment information for 2023 is as follows;

Retail Corporate
s in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge banking banking Treasury Total
. Continuing operations
Interest income calculated using the effective
e interest rate method 7.858,140 236,611 85,854,876 93,949,727
_ Interest and other expenses 15,968,912 - (59,991,774) (44,022,862)
Net interest income 23,827,052 236,611 25,863,202 49,926,865
. Fee and commission income 3,422,190 2,210,161 - 5,632,351
- Fee and commission expense (4,429,949) {419,859) (127,572) (4,977,380}
Net fee and commission income (1,007,759) 1,790,302 {127,572) 654,911
Net gain on dealing operations 1,115,025 6,257 822 945,098 8,318,045
”__ Other operating income - 122,973 122,973
Other non interest income 1,115,025 6,257,922 1,068,071 8,441,018
General and administrative expenses:
Provision charge on interest bearing assets and
contingent liabilities (3.217,234) (1,320,699} (692,851) (5,230,784)
Payroll expenses and bonuses (6,115,998) (2,803,132} {1,419,951) (10,339,081)
. Expenses on intangible assets (1,157,604) (242,481) (147,707) {1,547,792)
The cost of maintaining buildings/ facilities {600,653) (83,642) (49,1400 (733,435)
Other administrative expenses (568,121} (286,730) (285,342) {1,140,193)
} Advertising expenses (155,762) (97,426) (94,163) (347,351)
3 Other operating expenses (925,011) (414,624) (416,625) (3,756,260)
A Profit before income tax 11,193,835 3,036,101 21,697,922 35,927,958
Income tax expense {108,048) (607,220) (1,208,980} (1,924,248)
Net profit for the year 11,085,887 2,428,881 20,488,942 34,003,710
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31 Segment Analysis (Continued)

CBEDKa aKTHBOB W oBA3IATENLCTE OTYETHRIX CErMEeHTOB, KOTOPBIE He aHanM3uPYIOTCA NO CErMEeNTHO:,

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2024 r. 2023r.
Total segment assets 987,419,799 875,432,204
Corporate income tax 453,509 1,046,970
Deferred tax assets 836,132 683,066
& Property, plant, and equipment 7,602,778 7,336,525
intangible assets 1,604,829 1,695,143
Other assets 4,554,899 2,603,018
- Totat consolidated assets 1,002,471,946 888,696,926
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2024 1, 2023 r.
Total segment liablities 841,874,178 749,427,329
T Other liablities 22,986,631 21,294 681
Total consolidated liabitlies 864,860,709 770,722,010

An analysis of the Bank's revenue by products and services is presented in Note 18 (Net Interest Income) and Note 20
(Fees and Commission Income and Expense). A significant portion of the Banids revenue is earned in Kazakhstan.

32 Events after the end of the Reporting Period

There are no events after the end of the reporting period.
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